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Life of Theo Woodrow Pollock

TAPE 1 |

Way back in the year 1916, on April 6th, there was a baby born to
Ellinor Matllda Davis Pollock and Samuel L. Pollock. My name is
Theo Woodrow Pollock. I'd like to make a tape to give some
mformatlon to my grandklds and great grandklds as years go by.

'My Dad and Mother reared 14 children - their names, from the oldest
to the youngest

Emery, Blaine, Edith, Leda, Mlldred, Jimmy, Lorrame, Cleora, Wilma,
Dora, Verl, Vlolet Austin, Woodrow,

Mother and Dad were married in the St. George Temple. Dad was 21

years old and mother was 17 years old; and right promptly they

decided to take up a homestead down south in Kanarraville about six

miles, southwest actually; and they built a log cabin there. Later on

they bought a brick house up in Kanarraville. We lived up there in the

wintertime and in the summer tlme we lived down in Dry Creek
where their log cabin was.

I Il have to record thls tape strlctly by memory because | never kept
‘a d|ary or journal. :

The first thing 1 can remember about my life, | guess | must have
been about 3 years old. We lived in this old house in Kanarraville; it
“was an old fashioned house with real high ceilings about 11 feet high
and mother put me to sleep in this bedroom.
The light was shining through the door of the living room; we didn’t
‘have anything but kerosene lamps and it made it kind of dim in there.
I'd look up on the ceiling and there was some plaSter‘broke off, and it
made a shape or some kind of figure up there, and it looked like a
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wild animal to me, | thought it was a bear (I'd heard the kids talk
about bears) - so | would fuss and cry until Mother came in and
calmed me down to get me to sleep. But | remember how scary it
was.[Another thing that is pretty clear in ‘my mind from that time; my
brothers and sisters older than me would go up back of the house, in
the sagebrush, and hunt for what they called tones, in the
jsprmgtlme. They were little plants that came out of the ground with

- two fern like leaves that lay flat on the ground and a little purple
flower would come up from the middle of it. ‘That was a sign of spring
because just as soon as the snow melted they would come up and
bloom. 1 must have been pretty small because | remember how hard
it was for me to make my way through the sagebrush to try to keep
up with the older kids. Most of my memories are when we lived in the
- old log cabm south of Dry Creek, south of Kanarraville; anyway, we
called it Dry Creek. There are a lot of good memories there - |
remember one time we had some big shade trees in front of the
Iiouse, old Cottonwood trees, and we liked to get under those trees
and play around in the summertime. Austin and Violet decided they
would get Dad's old camp stove, a little light stove that he used to
take with him shepherding to build fires in when he stayed in the
tent. They were going to cook us a little dinner there 1 guess. Violet
took the lid off and laid it on the groun'd, I came tripping along
‘barefooted, never did wear shoes 1 don’t think, but I hit that hot
stove lid with my big toe and burned it. Nobody had any sympathy for
me and told me | was a big baby and all that. But | proceeded to go
in the house, got in the drawers and found an old jar lid. The jar lids
for canning fruit in those days; they had these j jar lids that were
made out of zinc and they had a glass liner inside them so the fruit
wouldn't be poisoned by the metal and then they had this rubber that
- screwed down on the lid; well, anyways, | got that jar lid and it was
only about inch deep and about 3 inches in dlameter. We had a wash
beside of the house, we called it a wash, and it was where the floods
had washed a big gutter in the ground. There was a spring down in
the bottom where we got our water and we had made a trail made
down there - it was a pretty steep trail - it was about 10 or 15 feet
down there | guess. | hopped down there and got that jar lid full of
water and climbed back up the best way | could and would stick my
toe in that water - boy did it ever feel good. AThen when it started
getting warm and hurting again 1 would dump it out and go down and
get me another lid of water. | done that, | guess for maybe an hour,
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- and it got to feel somewhat better so | decided to give it up. From
that day to this | can't figure out why | didn't go down there in that
creek and stick my toe in the water until it felt better instead of
climbing up and down. Down there by that spring there was a wild
rose bush hanging over the bank and it had a bird nest in there
(every year 'it had a bird nest in there) - we called them' picky birds -
they were really ng Blrds and every time | would go down there,
them buggers would come after me and land on my head and pick

the heck out of me. Later on when th_e little birds were almostready

to fly off, 1 went down there and got three of them and took them up
to the house and got a pasteboard box and cut some holes in it and
put the birds in. | was going to keep them but Mother made me take
them. back down to the nest; she said it was mean to take them
away from their mother. I sure did feel bad about that because 1
really wanted those birds.

Edlth and Leda had been down to California for school or working or
somethmg. Anyway they came home one year and we had an old red
hen that was a favorite because it laid brown eggs, and all the other
chickens laid white eggs. And we thought she was all right - it was
an old Diamond Red - meanwhile while they were down in California
the chicken died and we just took it down in a big patch of rabbit
brush and threw it out there and scattered feathers allover - |
il_isisted that Leda go down there with me where the feathers were to
show her that the old red hen had died, | guess. They all laughed
because | insisted they go down and look at those feathers. | didn't
know what they were laughing about. |

“Down at that old log cabin they had what we called a cellar; they had
dug a hole in the ground about 8 by 10 foot square and as | .

" remember they had cedar posts laying across it and theh some cedar
boughs and straw covered up with dirt - which made it pretty nice. It
was always nice and cool down there and Mother put up some
shelves down there and we always had a bunch of cows to milk,
maybe 11 or 12 cows to milk everyday; had lots of milk and we would
‘set the milk down there in big flat pans about 3 inches deep and 10
to 12 inches in diameter and then let the cream raise, then skim it
off with the skimmer, then drink the milk, use the cream to make
butter and cheese. Us kids would get them big homemade loaves of
bread, the big fats ones, take a big butcher knife and saw us off a big
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~ hunk of bread and would sneak arotuind down to the cellar and slap
- that bread down in a pan of milk and the cream would stick to the
bread. Then we would open the big sack of sugar (we had big 100
pound sacks of sugar sitting down there that was used for éanning
fruit and stuff like that, for makmg jelly) We would stick the bread
down in the sugar and it would stlck to it - man was that every good
" eating. That sugar and that homemade bread I'll never forget how
good that was! (It was fine if we could ‘get away with it though -
Mother would kind of keep an eye on us and | think the main thing
she dldn't like - she. always hollered about droppmg cream in the
Xsugar sack and it made hard lumps).
R.Dad built that old Iog cabin by brmgmg timber from Dry Creek
: Canyon- dragging it out with a horse, would put a chain on it and
drag it out there. He made it i m two stages. We used that for quite a
while | guess when they were younger but by the time | came it was
bigger because they put another log cabin right beside it, about
three feet away, and they even put a floor i in it, a wooden floor, and
that was a lot better than the old log cabin, but we used both of
them. In between these two log cabins they continued the roof right
across, then they just put plain old barn boards up (1 x 12) on the
sides of this three foot portion of it and they used it as a pantry -
kept canned foods in there and dry goods, groceries and stuff. One
day Austin was in there fooling around and he saw this knot hole in
this board and he decided to go to the bathroom instead of going
outside - so he stuck his little dinkus in there - it wasn't long before
he started hollering somebody better come here, somebody better
come here - thven} Mother went in there to see what was the matter;
she saw what he was doing and the old rooster had a hold of it on
‘the outside and was pulllng on it-1 guess he though he had a big
X worm! . _
"1t seemed like Dora was always the ringleader of the bunch. One
night about dusk, well it was almost dark, she said she would give
me a penny if 1 could race around the house - she said she would go
one way and | would go the other - and the one that could beat back
to that point would win, well if I beat she would give me a penny -
but of course, if she won | wouldn’t give her anything. We took off
and | got around to the dark side of the house and | saw this big old
ugly ruins sitting there on the chair - it had a big ugly face and | got
scared and | took off back around the other way. R nearly had a run-
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away. Dora had that thing made up - she took one of Ma's old dresses
and some other old clothes and tied them on that chair - then took a
pillow case and tied a string around it to make it look like it had a
head on the top; took some charcoal out of the stove ashes and
.made this ugly face. :
. 1 had noﬁ idea | was going to run into somethmg like that - it just
: scared the living wutz out of me. When | mentioned | had a run-away,
‘in case you don’t know, that was when a team of horses would get
scared and got loose and would run-away with the wagon - they
usually tear the wagon up - hitting posts and trees - so everybody
tried to avoid the run-away.

% “Another thing Dora would do; we had kerosene lamps - they weren't
much light - but we used them all the time - it was all we had in- that
old log cabin - she would take a sheet and tie it up like a movie
screen; then she would put up a little table on the backs of two
chairs; then she would tell the kids she was going to have a show.
We would all get in front of it - the light would be shining from the

- back and it would make a shadow on the sheet. She would get

- somebody on that table and say she was making out like somebody
was g’oihg to the doctor - and she would say well, you're in really bad
shape - we're going to have to operate on you: then she would take a
big butcher knife and saw through the belly and she would take a
saw like she was cutting through the breastbone and take her hands
like she was pulling it apart and start taking stuff out of there -
sometimes she pulled an old shoe, or a pair of scissors out of there -
inside of this person - just all kinds of stuff like that. |

That was what we had for entertainment. One time Mother and Dad

- decided to go down to Hurricane, it was about 35 miles from our
»place - go down there with a team and wagon - it would take all day
to go down there and then another day to get back.

" One day in between to pick the fruit and they brought back a bunch
of peaches one time. Mother was going to can them and put them in
the back room of this old log cabin. Next mommg she got up and she
got her bottles all ready and was going to can the peaches - she had
them covered up with a sheet and had us kids go out with some

" buckets to get some peaches and bring them in to her - we went
back in and told her there were no peaches there. There was nothing
there but two tubs of shelled corncobs. Us kids, we didn't think
anything about it, but Mother said well | know what happened - it has

~ to do with trade rats - trade rats would steal the peaches and they

-
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wouldn't take one unless they leave something in its place. The
corncobs were the handiest things they could find out by the barn
and they would put them in there. So we had to hunt for those
peaches - find out where they did leave them went outside and found
‘a hole underneath that part of the log cabin that had a floor in it - we
got a shovel and dug a hole under there - though we would probably
have to crawl under there - there were peaches under there all right!
We had to sneak them out of there - washed them off, and canned
them. While we were under there, | thmk it was Violet, she found a
few coins - two or three nickels and dimes - so we thought we should
- take a better look - so we all got to dlggmg around in the dlrt and we
~ found quite a few coins. There were even quarters. | think we had '
about three or four dollars. Mother and Dad sald that somebody must
“have lost their purse under there and these rats found it and took it
_uhder there sometime over the years. We all thought'that was a gold
mine under there! | connected gold W|th being rich so | though we
;%had found a gold mine. ‘ '

"Never h’eardAteli of screen doors back in those days - those old log
cabins got pretty hot in those days so you would leave the door open
because there were very%l‘-’ew windows in them. So we would leave
the door open and the chickens all ran around outside and they
would come into the house and we would have to shoo them off -
Mother would take the broom to them. | remember that real well.

One day an old rooster came in there; flew up on the table and
landed with his butt-end on a sheet of fly-paper - it came in sheets
about 16 inches‘long and 10 inches wide, real sticky, the flies would

land on it and get caught and they would take it a burn it up. But that |

rooster - when he got that fly paper on him - he took off with it
dragging and we could hear him flopping around and he went off

through the bamyard and we could hear all the chickens cacklmg

and running and even the cows were running with their tails in the
_air. _That another thing stayed on my mind for a long time!

My Mother got me a felt hat one time - it was red - boy |1 was proud of
that hat - | wore that hat all the time - it was kind of a floppy hat. One
night | went with Dora to bring the cows in - we were riding the horse
- and we went down to the end of the wheat field because we
thought we heard some cow bells - they always had belis on the
cows so we could hear them a long ways off so we would know
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' where the cows were - but they were somebody else's cows in
another pasture. So we started back home - took aé@?t off through
the wheat fields - | was behind her on that horse and she was going
pretty fast and my hat flew off - we didn’t stop to look for it because
it was getting too dark - and the wheat was pretty tall any ways; :
Anyway we never did find that dam hat -l was really sad about that.
Well, to finish this story - in the fall of the year when the thrashers

- came up - they had a big crew of men who came around and
thrashed the wheat and barley - when they came up" there to bring
the wheat in - they cut it with a binder - a binder is a big machine

that they pulled with three or four horses that had a big cutting blade’ a

on the front of it and it cut the grain and then had a conveyor belt
that carried the grain back up to the other end of the machine and
then a big arm would reach out with the binding twine (hemp string)
on it and tie it up in bundles. Then they would chop it in the fields
and stand it up in the fields to dry - it had to be real dry before they
could bring it in to put it in big stack fields around the barn. Well,
anyway when these thrashing machine men came they had one run

" by six horses - but they go around in a circle and turn a big wheel
and it had a big belt on it to run the thrashing machine - they would
throw the wheat bundles in it at one end, it would chop it all up and
grind it pretty much and shake all the seeds out of it - which was the
wheat and it would go down a pipe and the fellows there would
catch it in a burlap sack and carry it over to the granary, dump it out
and come back to get another sack. This one guy went to throw a
bundle of wheat into the thrashing machine when he spotted
somethmg red and pulled it out - he said hey look what | found - a red
hat i m this bundle of wheat - | said that's my hat - we were always
around there watchmg them do the grain. He said~ well, if its your

hat - - what will you give me for it - I said I can't give you anything - |
don’t have anything to give you- - he said =well I'll tell you what, I'll
give you this hat if you promise to see that | get an egg for breakfast :
in the morning. Mother always cooked them one or two eggs for |
breakfast anyway - - that was no big-deal - but | remember | went out
and chased a chicken off the nest andl got an egg to be sure that

- guy got his egg so I could get my hat back! | was really happy about
_my hat.

X Uncle Henry and Aunt Alice had a house across the valley - it was
about a mlle and a half | guess up to the mouth of the canyon and we_

/JQ&/.L 7



used to go up there to vns:t with them - there was nobody else around |
- they all had kids about the same age as ours.
I always like to go play with George and Denorj we had to walk up
there - | was only about 4 years old at this time. Leda would say run
along like a good little boy - put your head down and runand |
thought | had to have my head down - and | would run and run and
_run. Then after we would play all day we would have to walk home
- again. | would be pretty tired by the time we got back home. For a
/Kllttle four year old | suppose that would be qulte a tnp.

When I was about 5 years old | remember l was always getting su:k -
real bad sick. At the same time Verlg had a ruptured appendix - he
didn’t know what it was at the time - but there was an old doctor in
Cedar who would come down in his horse and buggy His name was
Dr. Green - and he doctored Verl$ with Linseed oil and flushed him all
out so he wouldn't get gangrene because they didn't know what they
could do with a ruptured appendix then. While he was there Mother
had him doctor me and he said | had bronchial pneumonia or real bad
bronchitis; he gave me some green medicine to take, | remember
that pretty green medicine - and his name was Green and | thought
that was why they called him Dr. Green, because he gave green
medicine.

- How dumb can a kid get?

We used to make our own fun. If we could possibly get a hold of old
Model T tires we would roll them, push ahead of us with our hands,
and roll them down the street. | couldn't keep up with the other kids
because | would be coughing all the time - I'had the darndest cough
all the time - | would get out of breath and would have to stop. i
remember how | used to envy them because they could keep going
and | couldn’t. This lasted until | was 15 years old - that bronchitis - |
would be sick about two weeks then well about week; all the way
from the time | was five until 1 was 15 - for ten years there - they
thought I was going to die several times.

mlu would like to go back just a little bit. There was a time when ‘
Mother and Dad were first married and they took up this homestead.
They had a section of land, however much that is, filled with

' sagebrush and big tall rabbit brush that was about 5 feet high - so
thick you could hardly get through them. Dad had to take an ax and
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cut all that brush out - at least cut out ehou'gh so they could raise a
garden, some potatoes and corn and stuff to eat to keep them
through the winter time. And during the winter time too he would
work at getting this brush off the property; he finally got a team of
horses and a railroad iron about 10 or 12 feet, a big heavy steel iron,
~put a chain around each end of it and drug it with the horses. He
“would pull them out by the roots and after they dried he would gather
~ them all up and burn them. He finally cleared all that land. Of course,
some of it wasn't cleared until the older klds got big enough to help
<S50 that made it easuer on him.

l_remembsr’ when the kids would take me up back of the house in the
brush to look for ton_esl(‘tohe' isa _little flower that would come out
early in the Spring - its got some flat leaves that lay flat on the
ground then a little purple flower grows out of the middle). But they
always came out as soon as the snow melted - so we would look for
them to see if it was just about spring. 1 always wanted to go huntlng
tones' - :

l guess I should tell you a little about our Christmas’s. Like most
families then, we would go out in the hills and cut us down a
Christmas tree; bring it in and set it up in the house and start
decorating. We decorated with popcorn and paper chains and
snowflakes we would cut out of paper. We never had any store
bought decorations. Mother would usually try to rake up 10 cents
apiece to give the kids (to draw names out of a sack) to buy presents
for each other. | don't know whose name | got but when | went to the
store to buy somethmg I saw this big glass Christmas tree ornament
- it ‘was beautiful. It was all different. colors, painted with gold paint -
a really pretty thing - so 1 bought it for my drawmg, it cost 10 cents
".and | took it home and hung it on the Christmas: tree. When it came
time to open the presents the next morning - whoever I got - they
didn't have a present. | told them that was their Christmas present. It
~ was the prettiest thing |1 had ever seen in my life - that gold glass

. bulb hanging on the one side of that Christmas tree. '

- One time | went to buy Mother a Christmas present and 1 didn’t know
what to buy her. : :

1 saw this little tea strainer about 3 mches in diameter - you just set
it over a tea cup to drain the leaves out of the tea when you pour it.
In those days we didn’t have tea bags - you just used tealeaves and



let them soak, then strained them off. | took it home in a little paper
sack and tied a piece of red ribbon around it. | asked Mother if she
thought she could tell what it was - she said no she couldn’t tell me
-what it was. | was so anxious to let her know what it was | asked her
if she was going to have tea on Christmas day. She said yes, and
started Iaughmg, i guess she knew what lt was.

;(/ We were down at the sheepherder‘s with Dad one Christmas holiday;
countmg the sheep wagon - it was actually just an old covered
wagon with a canvas over the top of it. It was by Uncle Wally's house
(they weren't living there anymore). Pad would keep going out to the

-~ barm and spendmg some time out there. He wouldn’t let us go out
: there to see what he was doing. On Christmas ‘morning we found out
“what he was doing - he had whittled out some runners out of oak and
made us a slelgh he took real good pains with it - and boy we loved
that sleigh. That was one of the best Christmas's.
Christmas was always a good time around our house. One summer
‘Blaine and Austin and 1 used to go down to Sawyer Springs or Ash
Creek we called it. There was a farnlly of Bohemians lived down
there - ? Doslix? Was their name - they had some boys William, Paul
and George - they all played the accordion - and their Dad played the
accordion too. They let us try to play the accordion and we got
where we could play part of the tune on it and we really loved that
~ accordion. That summer Mother saved up enough money (when she
found out we loved the accordion so much) to buy us an accordion -
it was about $7.50 in the Montgomery Ward catalog. She got it for us
for Christmas. | remember I stayed home all day that day learning to
play that accordion. By the end of the day 1 could play three or four
tunes on it. I'm not talking about a piano key accordion - it was one
 of those squeeze-box accordions that had the button keys on it. -
could pla y‘three~or-fou;-tunes_on4t.-l4n—not—taikmg*about*a pianokey
accordmn*a-‘lt*was-oneotthosesqueeze-box—accordl“o“nS“tha‘t"had“‘the
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PLAYING ACCORDION!
(My Bonnie Lies Over the Ocean)! !

}(Bring Back‘}My Bonnie to Me)!! ! | '}ya,f< / C



Z{’ One time Mother or Dad got a pair of used ice ska‘tes from Glade

Berry - they were some people who had quite a bit of money | guess -

-but anyway she gave them to me for Christmas - they clamped onto

the sole of your shoe, they had a little key ti) clamp them on there

<wit'h and they wouldn't stay on my shoes because the soles kept
‘coming off - the shoes were so wore out - so | took some baling wire

and wired clear around the shoes and skates by twisting the wire
with a pair.of pliers to hold them on. We had"lot‘s'_vof' fun skatihg but
we would get our feet all wet and real cold and one day we went into
Wilfred Berry's mothers place to get warm and she opened the oven

~ door to let us get our feet warm and she noticed my shoes were all

‘wore out, She gave a little kind of giggle like she always did - and

-she went in the other room and came back with a pair of little work

shoes, high top shoes, and they were in pretty good shape - but

Wilfred grew so fast he outgrew them so they wereraal good - and

they just fit me! So then my skates would stay on good and my feet '
would stay warm. Boy | was just as proud as a peacock with those

 shoes - to get a pair of shoes - even if they were used - and in good

shape - we appreciated everything we could get like that because

we didn't have anything to speak of. There were just a lot of little

things that | have memories about that stick with me - | guess they
will forever. We used to go to Kanarraville once in a while for
birthday parties that one of the kids in town had. At my age there
were only about 8 or 10 kids all together that was my age in the
whole town that had birthday parties. One of the main games we
played, when | was about 8 or 10 years old, was Chewing the String -

- if you haven't played,Chewing the String you ought to try it.

_'You. get a piece of string about 2 feet Iong_, put each end in your

mouth - one in your mouth and one in t_'he‘gi_.rls mouth - then you start
to chewing on the string and wadding it around your tongue and it
gets shorter and shorter till you got up to the end, then you would
get a kiss. We called that Chewi'ng the String and that was one of the
best games we ever played! - :

Speaking of those kind of games - we used to play another oné called

Catch Kiss but that was after we got a little older - maybe about 12

or 14 years-old. We would get the girls all together and we would

start them down the corn rows - big tall rows of corn way over your
head - there were big patches - oh _l guess a quarter of a mile long -
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we would give the girls a head start and if we could catch themw
_would get a kiss. Boy that was really the best game | had ever sec.._.

7{’/ I remember Mother used to plan a big fi ishing trip about ever so often
- we would go down to Sawyer Springs and she would get in that
fishing pond - in the creek there where the water was a little deep
around the trees and rocks - she would get an apron and she would
scoop it down in the water and scoop it up and have a bunch of ‘
minnow fish in there. We would take them back home and she would
cook them all up in the frying pan but she would cook bones and all
because they were so little they were onlyﬂabout 2o0r3 inches long.
But she loved fish so much she ate those dog-gone thmgs bones and

‘A,all. of course, I didn't care for them - | wouldn't eat them at all. -

_ Mother used to tell us a little story about when she was courting
Sam L. - before they were married - said they were down at Sawyer

- Springs one time - that was' a beautiful place by the way - they were
’walking along arm and arm when they saw this little Water snake
‘came racing up the path and they didn't get out of the way quick
enough - and Dad said Ellner, you better go on - 1 got to stop here - |
think that dang thing went right straight up my leg and he had to
stop and get it out. But he still didn't get very excited - he wouldn't
dare pull his pants down till she got out of site. 3\jh«¥

%1 drove my first car when | was about 9 years old - | remember Austin

trying to teach me how to drive it - it was a Model T Ford and what a
hard time | was having doing it - | was too short - | couldn't get down
to the brake pe_dal. Those Model T's - in case you haven't driven one
before - that was somet_hing else - they weren't like cars are today -
they had three pedals on the floor - and one was the brake pedal -
the one in the middle was reverse and the other was low or neutral -
it was used for low and neutral both - and then the emergency brake
acted as a brake and half way down would put it into neutral - or if
you put it all the way down it would put it in high gear if you weren't
pushing the other brakes down. So it was quite complicated if you
didn't know how to do it. But first to drive that car you had to get out
in front and get hold of the crank - the crank didn't come out - it just
stayed in there - you would have to hold your thumb back when you
cranked it because if you didn't, sometimes it would backfire, it
wQuld kick and a lot of people got their thumb broke - so you got in
the habit of pulling your thumb over your forefinger so it wouldn't
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break it off. Anyway, it had a choke - you would reach over and find
the choke by the radiator, it was just a wire with a loop in it - pull it
out and choke it until it coughed a little bit then push it back in till it
would start. There were notches on there - then the gas feed was on
the other side - you would put it down about half way on the notches
- then you ‘would get it started and get in it - in order to get it to go
you would push your foot on the outside pedal - first. off, you would
have to put the emergency break lever down about half way - that
weuld put it in neutral - then you step on the right hand pedal on the

- brake - down on the floor rather - it wasn't the brake - it was low |
gear. If you would push it half-way down it would s_tiil be in ne_utral, if
you pushe_d it all the way down it would be in low gear and you would
start creeping along. Then when you got to go fast enough you just
" let your foot clear off and put your emergency brake clear down and
it would go into high gear. Then you could chug along. It just had two
gears, low and high. But in order to go in reverse you would have to
put ybur foot on the right brake, that would stop the car - and then
you would push the left hand pedal down half-way, that would put it
into neutral - then you could push the middle brake down and that
would put it into reverse and it would go backwards. Overall it was
pretty complicated. We never had a gas feed on the floor - you would
have to use the gas feed on the steering column to go chugging

" along. They didn't have much power either but we made out with
them. It was an awkward thing to drive. One time when | was about
the age of 10 or 11 (along there somewhere), Verlp was up in the
West mountain herding sheep for old Don Smoot; fellow from New
Harmony, had a bunch of goats up there - he was herdmg goats not
sheep. Mother wanted to go up and visit him and Verlg wanted me to
‘stay a couple of weeks with him to help him herd those goats. |
remember she was going to ride the horse and that was unusual for

- Mother to ride the horse especlally a straddle horse - that was
unheard of - they always rode side straddle - the women in those
days didn't straddle a horse like they do now, and it wasn't nice; but
anyway, she figured if she had some pants on, or overalls, denims of
some kind she would be o.k. She hunted around and fihally found an

- old pair of striped bibbed overalls that old Al Farley had left up there
for some reason or another. She crawled into them and they just fit
her - and pretty darn good too - | remember how we laughed at her,
she looked so funny - she had kind of a pot belly anyway and it stuck
out in those bib overalls and she sure looked stout. Anyway we got
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‘on this old horse, Blossom we called her, she was a faminly pet; went -
up to West mountain. She visited the rest of the day - it was about
ten miles away from our house. She left about sundown to go back -
home - | guess she dldn't get back home till way after dark and she.
was by herself. : : o
One morning, we got up to get some breakfast and Verlﬁdecided to

i make some hotcakes - cookmg them on an open campfire. He told
me to go into the tent and get the bucket of honey; they had half-
gallon buckets of honey, and to set it on the fire because it would go.

.- on the hotcakes better if it was melted down a little. So I got the
honey and set it on the fire - and me not knowing anything about it, |
just set it on the fire and all of a sudden the thing blew up and blew
the lid off the can and it landed on one of the old goats backs and
stuck to her and scared the heck out of her - she took off and scared
all the rest of the goats and they stampeded and took off over the
mountain. We had our breakfast and ate our hotcakes and then took
' out after those goats. It was way in the afternoon before we ever got
around them. We chased them all morning and into the mlddle of the
afternoon, but we fi nally got around them and we just barely got
them back to camp where we were supposed to have them by night.
We were gone all day - didn't even have any dinner. That's one little
experience | had.
in about a week | started getting pretty homesick. That was an awful
feeling - 1 couldn't stand it any longer - | had to go home. Couldn’t
stay the two weeks but 1 did stay a couple of more days but | just
kept getting sicker and sicker. Verlé took me out on top of the hill
there where I could see our house down at Dry Creek couldn't see
the house but | could see the trees - - so | knew where it was. He said
you just go right down this canyon till you get out on the ﬂat land
then you head straight for the house. | started down the canyon and
turned around to look and Verle was sitting on a rock there, crying.
He hated to see me go but | was too homesick, | couldn't help it, |
had to go. | started down that canyon, | got partway down and |.
heard something in the brush and 1 took off and | thought oh, man, a
mountain lion is after me for sure. Me being just ten years old, | ran
as hard as | could down that canyon until 1 got so give-out | couldn’t
even breathe and | had to stop. And when I sat down to rest | guess
God told me that was a deer instead of a mountain lion because |
relaxed then and went on home. | never got home till about dark that

» 7Z;,{.'night but | was sure glad to get home!
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TAPE 2

% One time we were over to the old cemeént house - the new one that
Dad made - they used to have thunderstorms and there would be so
“much water that came out of the hills that it would cause a big flood
" to go down through Dry Creek Canyon - that wash was about maybe

100 feet across it - and one of those plugs would come out of there
and it would have trees and rocks and everything else - with a big
front on it about ten feet high - and then when that passed over the
‘water would be so high and flooding coming down there - it would be
five or six.feet across that thing - going like thunder - you couldn’t
even think of standing up in it. But Jimmyv Duncan and Leda (that's
Dora's two"kvids, Jimmy was the. oldest, and Leda was the next
oldest we called her Little Leda) - well they started back across that
wash and the ﬂood was coming and they saw it was coming. Jimmy
could outrun it because he was bigger - Jimmy got clear across and
looked back and Leda was only half-way across and there was a
little kind of island out there and he told her to stay on that island,
climb up on that blg rock (lt was a rock about the size of a car). So
she climbed up on that rock, poor little thing, she was, | think, 4
“years old then. It was really a scary time and that water came up
higher and higher and it kept coming up and she was sitting there
looking into the flood coming down the stream, with muddy water
splashing in her face and it just almost took her off that rock. We
didn't know what to do - Jimmy and Verlg were both there. They
went and got one of Dad's big role ropes he used - they were one of
the main things he used around the farm - it was about 300 or 400
eret Iong. So Jlmmy tied it around his waist and got upstream about
50 yards and Verle had the horse there and we tied the rope to the
horn of the horse and let it go a little at a time. Jimmy went down
that creek trying to make his way across there. He fi nally got over to
. the rock where she was - and he held on to her and held on to the
rock. Fortunately the flood started to recede and go down. We
waited until it had gone down enough that we could hold onto the
rope and have Jimmy get back out of there. We were all in hysterics -
I'll NEVER forget what scared people we were about that little glrl
‘k\bemg in the middle of that flood.
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Another time we had another little experience similar to that. Blaine
-was riding this little pony we had - it was a nice little pony - | forget
what her name was Braidy | think we called her because her mane

looked like it had been braided - it was so curly. He was trying to
o chase a bull - we had a big Jersey bull that had Iong horns on him -
~and he was headed for a bunch of stray cattle and he wanted to go
with them. Blaine had Jlmmy Duncan behind him on the horse - and
that darn bull - he couldn't head him off and the bull started puttmg
- . his head down and vstarted‘bumpmg the horse. So Blaine. Used his
head - he went over to this big oak tree and let Jimmy Duncan get off
'so he wouldn't get hurt. He told him to stay in that tree. So he still
tried to c'hase' that bull - and that bull turned around and he got that
“poor little pony underneath his front legs and just tore a big huge
hole in there about 12 inches across - the flesh was just hanging off -
but that horse wouldn't give up - he still chased that bull home. And

then after he got him in the pen he went back and picked up Jimmy.1

guess Blame was only about 8 or 10 years old then. That was quite
. an exciting time too. .

#Us kids use to love to go down to stay wuth Dad at the sheep herd -
‘he had a little herd of sheep. Of course, sometimes it would be very
far from home, maybe a couple of miles are all, but he still had to
stay out there with the sheep. | remember one winter we were down
there staying in the sheep wagon with Dad. We would wade around
in the snow and slush in the spring of the year and get all soaking
wet. Then we would get in the Shee'p wagon and they had a Tittle
stove in there and somehow or other Dad had some baling wire tired
onto the stovepipe to hold it from falling over - a piece of baling wire
stretched across th_ere..We would take our shoes and socks off and

| lay them on there - and our pants too so they would dry during the
hight and we would all get into bed with Dad. | would get on one side
‘and Austin on the other - | guess it was Austin and | that were there

' then. He would read to us - he read Bat Boy's Diary - and oh, |
thought that was a wonderful book. It was about a little kid that was
awful mean and in mischief all the time. Dad, | remember he couldn't
read very good' he would have to figure out the words sometimes.
But anyway he made it awful interesting. And you know, | really
appreciated my Dad for that. | JUST LOVED HIM for the little things

"?S* he did.
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' One day Blaine and | were going over to the comnfield to hoe some

weeds in the corn and we started across this wash. In case you don’t

know what we call a wash, it is where the floods have run down

through the valley and tore out a big deep gully about 8 to 10 feet

deep but made stralght-off banks on it. We were going across this

place one time because we saw some coyote tracks, a lot of them

around there,. and we noticed thls hole about as big around as a A

' water bucket and we decided there must be some coyotes in ‘there.
So we went back home and got a shovel and a burlap bag. We went
down there and started digging in there to enlarge the hole so we
could get in there. Blaine was smaller than me so | let him go down

there - of course, that wasn't really the reason | let him go down'

: there, but he thought it was. We got that hole blg enough that fi naIIy

‘he got hold of one of those little coyotes and he brought him out. We
managed to end up with three of them. We took them out and put

- them in the sack and took them home wﬂ:h us - we were going to

raise them for pets. We turned around and looked and here came

~ that old coyote behind us. She wouldn’t get real close but she was
following us because she knew we had her babies. We took them up
and put them in a little pen on the back porch of the house, we had a
little screened-in porch. Went to go to bed that night and went to
look at our coyotes and they were bouncing around in that pen,
whining to get out. We noticed that down through the garden lot was
the old coyote - she was pacing back and forth across the fence. She
wouldn’t get inside the fence but she sure was eyeing them coyotes.
She did that for a couple of days but finally she left. Our little
coyotes - we gave one to a schoolteacher - Russell Call - he wanted

‘to raise it for a pet. The other one we gave to somebody - | don't
recall who. But we kept one and we had him for our pet - and have
him for a dog shoot, he got about half-grown and he started klllmg
all the chlckens around there. He wouldn't eat them - he just liked to
kill them_. , So we had to get rid of him - so Dad got the rifle out and
took him out in the back of the yard and shot him. '
One day we were fooling around in these: washes and Laron Williams
had a herd of sheep down there. There had been a big rainstorm. We
looked down in this hole in the wash there and there was an old
sheep stuck in the mud. So we tied the horse up on top of the bank
there, it had a little ditch that ran down into the wash. We tied the
horse up not knowing that it was right over that ditch. 1 was down

~ there trying to get that sheep out of that mud - | had almost got her
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out and that dang hot water came down over me and liked to have
drowned me. | got out of there as fast as | could. That old mare she
had lifted her tail and started wetting and it came down through that
little creek - so | got wet on allover - | sure was mad at that. By the
time I got home it was almost dry - boy if that wasn’t ss. | sure

. was glad to get into the creek and get that washed o%:ne time old _
Joe Hasmonleet came by the ranchj he wanted to leaVve his sheep
wagon there, he was a cattleman but he had a sheep wagon to stay
in.. So he left it there and us kids got in there and found a quart can
of strawberry jam so we took a pocket knife and cut the lid out of it
and we took some bread out there to have bread and jam. That was _
real good stuff' We never got strawberry jam. Mother got after us and
told us to get out of there so we didn't go back in there for jam-
‘anymore. But one day | saw her going out around the barn in the
brush hunting, gathering eggs and | noticed she went around back of
the sheep wagon and then around to the front and crawled up in
there. So me and Blaine. decided to see what she was doing - we
peeked through the cracks. She was in there sitting on the bed and
she had a piece of bread and that can of jam - making herself a Jjam

__sandwich too'%

’*“My mother, she was a character, | tell you. One time Madge and
Violet (Madge Stapeley was a friend of Violets that lived about a mile
or two away) got together and went down to where old Laren
Williams had left his sheep wagbn for a while - it didn't have many
groceries in it - but they ate some of what was in there. There was a
ten-pound sack of sugar in there - so they took it home and Ma said
what are you going to do with that? And Violet said we're going to
make a whole bunch of candy and have all the candy we want to eat
for a change. She said you're not either - your stealmg that sugar and _
you're going to take it back. So they started to take the sugar back
and they got about 30 feet from the house when she called them
back and said well, being as you already got it you ean leave it here
~and I'll use it to can my peaches with. yv

”kWhen I was about 14 years old I would take that Model T Ford and
take Blaine, Lorraine and Cleora up to school. | think Cleora was in
the first grade. | was only 14‘years old and wasn’'t very big to drive
that old Model T. We would get stuck in the snow and have to dig it
out and push and we would manage to get there. | remember when
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we had to eat those old cold molasses sandwiches, and would sit out
in the car to eat them because we were up to Emery's service
station, we would park the car beside his service station, and he
didn’t like us to come in the house - because it didn't look good for
all us kids in there eatmg lunch. But Lela would always bring us out
a gallon of milk to eat with our sandwiches - it would be skim milk of
course, because she had skimmed the cream off. Lela ‘was Emery's
‘wife - - we sure appreciated that. | remember after we moved from Dry
Creek up to Kanarraville and we would have to go to school. We
depended on Dad to sell the wool before we could get any clothes.
We had gone barefoot all summer and sometimes we would have to
start school before we got the wool sold so we wouldn't have any
shoes and we would go to school barefooted. Then would come a big
- snowstorm and we would have to wrap our feet in newspaper or
magazines or whatever we could fi nd, paper is pretty good
insulation. Then we took a burlap sack and cut it in half and use one
for each foot. We would wrap it around our foot good and tight and
tie it with a piece of binding twine. We would go to school and our
feet would about freeze and get the sacks all wet. So we would take
them off and had big long radiators in the schoolrdbm - big steam
radiators - and the teacher would let us hang them on there to dry so |
—they would be dry when we went back home after school.#/

~We had a big flood come down there - we had a flume across the
wash there to carry the water out of the creek over onto the alfalfa
field. The flood made the water come too fast and washed the sand
into that flume. The flume was made out of three 2)_(12. s nailed
together that made a trough and then we had it propped up on poles
across the wash; it was quite a ways across that one. Anyway, it
~would fi I full of sand and the water wouldn't go through it so we had
to clean it out. Jlmmy took me over there and he said you're littler -
you're not so heavy - there is already all the weight of that sand-on

- there - you go out there with this little short handled shovel and dig
that sand out. So | went out on that thing and I just got started
digging pretty good when | heard crackling and noise and allofa
sudden that thing broke loose and fell down in there and | was right
in there among all those boards and that sand and mud. It's a darn
wonder | didn't get killed. | was awful scared and I'm sure that's why

it sticks with me! ‘

E
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' Us kids decided to build a swimming pool one time so we would have
a place to take a swim. We had this old field wash that came down
through Kanarraville, through Dry Creek, big wide wash that had a
little stream in the bottom. We started'carrylng rocks and we even
- got some. burlap sacks and filled them with sand and sand bagged it.
We cut trees down and laid them across there like a beaver pond to -
- ‘make a swimming pool. We got it pretty good and one day itwas a
- hot summertime and it was awful sultry that day. We all took off our
clothes and went skinny dlppmg. Boys, girls and all! We had agood .
time! Before we got tired of SW|mmmg it started to thunder and A
lightening; big old rain storm came again. Well, a big old flood came
"down there and washed all our swimming pool away. On the way
home that day | went to open the gate and | jumped off the horse and
the way the old wire gates were they had a stick tied to a piece of
wire and you would wrap it around there as a kind of pry-board to
hold that gate shut. | went to undo that and just about that time the
Ilghtenmg flashed and the thunder sounded and that darn thing hit
me in the mouth. | still remember I thought sure that | had got struck
with llghtenmg' Dora was taking care of us up at Kanarraville - we
were all going to school. Our school tea_cher, Thelma Butterfi eld, she
was going steady with one of the fellows there in town, Rulen Flatt.
Well Rulen had a sister the same age as me, Verna Flatt and they
used to line us up in the front of the room to read and each one
would read a paragraph. Well, I'll study this first paragraph, | won't
have to study the whole story, then I'll get up in the front of the room
and be there first and I'll be the first one to read and I'll already know
that one pretty good. Teacher said time for reading, get up here and
Iine up in front of the class. I ran up there and | managed to get up
‘there first. The teacher said we're going to do something a little
dlfferent today - we're going to start on the other end this time. So
Verna Flatt was on the other end of the row. She read and they kept
coming to-me and | didn't have that last one studied so 1 didn't even
‘want to read it but she told me to read that last paragraph. I told her
no | don't won't to read it - let your sister-in-law read it. She thought
that-was a wise remark so she expelled me from school. Well, | had
to have a note from my mother or father to get back into school.
They were down there in Dry Creek and | cbuldn't get down there.
Dora wrote me a note - she wouldn't accept it - so | still didn't get
back into school.
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I remember | would go around town, anybody would see me they
would say Woodrow, what are you doing out of school, or little boy,
who do you belong to? Aren’t you supposed to be in school? It
embarrassed me and scared me to pieces. Fmally Dad came up to
town from the ranch and wrote me a note so | could get back in
—school but that was about a week later. »

-*I guess you know Grandpas can be mean little boys too. One time
when we lived there in Kanara Mother had gone to Relief Society and
we used to buy our groceries with a little book of coupons - they
were 5, 10 and 25 cent coupons. Well | knew where Mother kept the
book - on top of the cupboard -and I had a hard time getting up there
but 1 got up there and got a 10 cent coupon - there were only a few
left in there. What they did with those coupon books is they used
them like credit. When they gave you the coupon book and then
when you got it all empty you would pay for it. That was how they .
kept track of your credit account. Well, anyways, | went down to this
old co-op store to buy something good; Memorlal Sardines in a little
flat can were pretty good so | bought me one of them - they cost 10
cents. Took it back up home - | don't know why I didn't dare go in the
house but | tried to open it with the key - it came with a key and |
twisted that key-aml off - the little tab that was supposed to open it
and it wouldn't open. So | laid it down on a log and took the ax and
chopped it right in the middle. | was digging the fish out of that little
hole | made and | cut my finger on the tin can. Boy, it bled allover the
place but I still didn't dare go in the house to get it taken care of.
Well, later on Mother was missing the 10 cents; she wanted to know
which of the kids took it. She said Lorraine you might as well own up
‘to it - 1 know you're the one that took it - you're the one that would
do somethmg like that. Well, it wasn't Lorrame, it was me and |
waited a day or two and it got to hurting my feelings so bad to think
that Lorraine got accused of that when | was the one that d_ld it. 1
went and told Mother | was sorry and that | wouldn't ever do it again.
She loved me and told me thanks for telling her to protect your

~ sister. But that taught me a good lesson. | remembered that forever.
Like | said before, we never did have any money, didn't hardly know

—what it waf> But | knew how big around a nickel was - and when |
was going down to the post office one day - they had sent me down
to the post office it had been showing - about 8 or 10 inches of snow
- and every so often along the trail | would see a little round hole
down in the snow. Oh, boy, I}thought someone had dropped a nickel
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~and it had melted right down in the snow. So | dug it out and didn’t

- find a nickel - then | would see another one - and I would try it. |
went all the way to the post office that way - got almost to the post
office anyway when 1 met an old man coming down, old Ollie Steel -
he had a cane and he was poking it in the snow as he was going
‘along - th’a_t is what was ’m.aking‘a‘ll those 'Iittle round holes.

When they had dances up there in Kanara, in the old schoolhouse;
after the dance, the next Monday moming us boys would go out and
find the cigarette stumps that got thrown away and didn't all burn
up. We would take them up back of the schoolhouSe, in the sage
brush up there, and smoke cigarettes. We knew we shouldn’t - but in
‘ order to keep- the teacher from finding out we would chew sage
~brush for a breath knocker - boy that was the nastiest stuff | ever
tried to chew - but anyhow, 1 don't think it made any difference - |
~think she knew! I started smoking when | was 13 years old. Smoked
for 35 years then quit. In that old schoolhouse they had a library - but
they always had it locked up. It had books for the ninth and tenth
graders to read and us kids were forbidden to even see them. Of
‘course there wasn't anything in them - but they didn’t want us to
‘read them - they said they were for adults. Anyway, the school room
had a ventilator in it - it had ventilation from one room to the other to
keep the air circulating so we would have fresher air. But by going
up these ventilator shafts, you could crawl across the rafters and go
down into the library. We found that out and we went up in there one
day - and this shaft was about 3 feet wide and 2 feet the other way -
it was kind of an oblong thing. You would pull the grill off down by
the floor and to get:up there you would have to push your legs out

~ against the wall and your arms too and work your way up, crawling
with pressure on your arms and legs. A bunch of us kids were there,
~ Twilla Williams, Myrna Wllllams, and a bunch of kids. Well TW|IIa, she
started up there first and got half way up there then | decided |
would start up there - I don't know why but I looked up and | told
Twilla I could see her pants. She started laughing - she laughed so
hard she started wetting - she wet allover me and | crawled out of
that hole in a hurry I'll tell you!! I'll always remember that!!!! | was
telling Twilla about that years later and she laughed her guts out
about it! '
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Old Mr. Brown used to come to town once every six months 1 guess,
for the movie the old silent movies. When he would get there he
would have a bunch of flowers to hand out around town. He would
take them to people’s doorsteps to drop them off. We would always
try to get there - the first ones there would get the job of doing that -
and they would get a show ticket for domg that. I tried to get in on

.that. We would go watch those silent movies - black and white of

course - no sound - but they played the plano some girl played the

. fplano so there was music while the show was going on. Sometimes
- we wouldn't get there in time to hand out the flowers and he would

let us turn the crank. We turned that movie machine by hand to make

the picture and you had to keep it at a certain speed all the time -

boy your arm would give out - sitting there - but you could watch the
show while you were cranking it.

"Butl didn’t like that way of watching movies very well. We didn't

have any television or radios or stuff like that. The first radio | ever
heard - old Willie Farmer from Cedar came down to Kanarra and he

‘was‘ going to put on a demonstration. He had an old radio - with a big

long box and a big horn sitting on top of it. In order to get any
receptlon at all he had to go outside and get up on the church
building - he had two sticks - one at each end and a piece of wire the
full length of that building and down to the radio. Then he would take
another from the radio and run it out the window - and drove a big
iron rod into the ground about six feet deep - and tied the wire to it
for a ground wire. Then you could hardly hear it through the speaker -
but if everyone was real quiet you could hear it sometimes.

He had a set of earphones and we would take turns listening through
the earphones and that was pretty excltmg. We did have
phonographs the old Victor phonograph. There were two types - the
Edison and the Victor - they had a blg sprmg in them to wind them up

" like an old fashioned clock; crank them up with that handle - when

that spring got good and tight then you could put the record on and

- play it. It would last till the record finished then you would have to

crank it up again if you wanted to play another tune. That was a long

‘ways from being a stereo but we enjdy_ed it pretty much.

One time me and Austin raised some popcorn. After we harvested it
we had ten pounds and we could sell it for-about 3 or 4 cents a

- pound. We were going to sell it and Austin had a harmonica - a ten

cent harmonica. | wanted it so bad that | traded him my 5 pounds of

» ﬁ;popcom for that harmonica.



PLAYING HARMONICA '
%’When my Dad first got that Model T Ford he sure had a heck of a time
with it Iearnmg to drive it. We went to Kanarra one day and he got up
there pretty good but coming back - we had to come back the back
roads - down through the cedar trees just an old dirt road with cedar
trees on both sides. He ’kept running off the road and about hittmg
_ the trees. I remember, all of us kids in the back - it looked like the
Grapes of Wrath coming down the road. He said Ellinor - don't talk to .
'me now - | feel like | got hold of a wild one!
One day Leda decided she would drive that Model T Ford. _
We got up to Uncle Wally's - about a mile north of our piace - the old
homestead place by the log cabin. We were coming back down the
road there and it was right along a big wash. The road was between
‘the wash and the plowed field - a freshly plowed field - and she was
‘going faster than she thought she was | guess, and the front wheel
hit into that plowed ground - that soft dirt - it swung her around -and
she threw a big cloud of dust and dirt up in the air. | remember
~ covering my eyes - | thought 1 had gone blind for a little while.
The old Model T got kind of sick and wouldn't work too good so Dad
decided to overhaul it. He got a book and read on how to overhaul it.
He was going to put new piston rings in it, grind the valves and all
that good stuff. He worked on it two or three days, then went to put
it back together and it said to stick the head gasket on with some
heavy grease so it wouldn’t slip while he got the bolts in there. He
didn't have any heavy grease so he decided he would use some -
honey and he got a can of honey from the house; spread it allover
that gasket - around the cylinder walls and all - put it down there,
tightened the head down good - we had to pull it with the horse to
get it started. We couldn’t crank it. It wouldn't start - so we pulled it
with the horse and "got it started. He got it warmed up pretty well -
and according to the book it said after it gets warmed up pretty good
to shut it off and tighten the bolts down while it was still hot and it
would seal better. So he tightened them down and the next morning
he tried to go out there and start it and he couldn’t even turn the
engine over. He pulled it with the horses -a_nd all it did was drag it - it
was locked! So he had to tear it apart again - took the heads off - and
looked down in there and the cylinder rolls and pistons were sealed
with honey candy! We had to take hot water, wash them all out to
get that honey out of there. It took h|m a long time to get that thing
%X_gomg agam'
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After we moved over to the other place - the old cement house
mouth of the canyon we still had to stay down there to do chores ana
things. Dad stayed down there during the week while we went to
school and we would go down there weekends and stayed. Well that
week there was a big talk in the newspmrs and everyone was
talklng about it where this man Hickman had killed this llttle girl and
cut her all up in pieces and put her in a garbage can and they were
out looking for him - he was still at large. Blaine and 1 were staying
there - down at Dry Creek - at the farm. :

There were two fellows that came there just after dark and wanted
to know if they could stay there. We didn't want them to stay but
there wasn't anything we could do about it because we were just
little fellers - especlally after this talk about Hickman. We only had
one bed - it was in the living room - we just used the kitchen and the
living room because the stove was in there to keep us warm. We
went to go to bed that night and those guys were talking to us and
Blaine and I had each had a little old pocketknife and we had a stone
there we sharpened them on - we would get them real sharp -so

- sharp they could shave the hair off your arm. So we were showing
these guys how sharp they were. The one guy said yes, they're pretty
nice little pocket knives - how would you like to have one like this?
He pulled out of his scabbard a blade about six inches long that
flipped out and locked. Well then that scared us worse than ever - we
were sure that was the knife that cut that little Marian Parker up.
Well when it was time to go to bed we told them we didn't have
anyplace for them to sleep so they said well, you guys sleep at the
foot of the bed and we'll get in the top. So we had to sleep down
there by there feet all night. The next morning we got up and cooked
them some eggs and they left and boy were we glad to get rid- of
them.

—

TAPE 3

%I would like to tell you about a dog we use to have. We were going up
to New Harmony with Dad in a wagon one time, Austin and I. When
we got up there we stopped at an old lady's place, Annette

'Hammond, and she had this spotted dog. It was a:Dalmatian -1 didn't
know it was a Dalmatian then but it was white with black spots.
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The reason I'm telling ybu this is because he was such a crazy dog.
‘He didn’t have a lick of sense in this world. This dog, one time we
went out to the cows on the horse and he saw a big long-tailed lizard
run into the sagebrush. He went over to that sagebrush and he tried
to get that lizard out and it ran out the other side. | don't know why
he didn't see it but he insisted it was in that brush. He tromped on
that bush and growled at it and then we left - the next day he did the
same thing and he kept at it until he killed that whole sagebrush
bush trying to get that lizard. And that lizard had been gone for
months! And that's just one thmg he did. He was going across a big
wash once - it had a pole about 16 inches in diameter laid across it
and we would walk across there. If you fell off you would go down
about maybe 15 feet to the bottom of the wash - it was probably 20

- feet across. We walked across there and called that dog and he -
started to come across there and he got at least 2/3 across and he
looked down and it scared him and he let out a big yelp and he
turned around in the middle of that log and went back again.

We couldn’t get him to come back across that thing either. Another
time he was going along the side of that wash, with his tongue
hanging out and his ears flopping and he fell off and broke his front
leg. We carried him home on the horse and bandaged his leg up, put
splints on it, and in a month or two it got better. Little while later we
were going down to get a load of water; we always hauled water in
barrels from down in Ash Creek - to use for drinking water and
culinary uses. On the way down there that darn dog run out in the
middle of the road and a car was coming and it ran over him and
broke the other front leg. We did the same with it, patched him up
until he got better. It wasn't very long after that - | forget just how
this did happen - but | think the horse kicked him and broke his back
leg and we got him all patched up! By the time he got all three of
those legs patched up, he walked crooked all the time. Going
Sideways - he couldn’t walk straight. One day that dog started after a
rabbit going across this big airplane field - it was cleared off - all the
brush was off it. That dog took off and the rabbit got way ahead of
him, makmg a great big circle. That dog would look at him, with his.
Tongue hanging out - he was going as fast as he could with those
three broken legs but he would follow.the trail of the rabbit, he
wouldn’t cut across. It wasn't long before the rabbit was so far out of
sight he never would catch him. He didn't have sense enough to cut
across to get that darn rabbit. That dog had a habit of running back
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and forth in front of the team of horses and jumplng up and biting
their noses.
| remember Dad used to get so mad at him. He got out one_day, got
in the plowed field there and got a bunch of dirt clods and filled his
pockets full and put a bunch on the seat of the wagon. Every time
‘that dog would come by he would throw a rock at him. He would
miss him and it made him so mad. It was funny to watch him we
%&aughed at Dad for that. ~ :

’é‘l didn"t tell_ you what fun us kids used to have when we were real tiny
kids. We played in this big wash and down along the bottom where
‘the water had soaked in real good - there was some of the nicest
clay - you could get it out and mold it up just like the clay you have in
school. We would dig that clay out and Dora would teach us how to
make furniture out of it - little beds and chairs and stoves - all kinds |
of furniture for her doll house. What we would use for dolls would be
little corn dolls. They would be ears of corn that when they first
came on the stock they wouldn't be very big; then we would shell all
the shucks off them (the leaves), and leave the silk on them.
‘Sometimes it would be red, sometimes yellow, most of the time plain
old clear color. Anyway, we had them for dolls. We wanted boy dolls
and girl dolls so we would get down to the bottom where the corn
came to a peak and break it off and that one was a girl. The ones
that didn't get broke off were the boys. We use to play in those

. %,vvashes for hours on end. Really had a good time when we were kids.

One day Dad decided to make some molasses candy. We always had
quite a bit of molasses. We would go down to Dixie - that was where -
they made it - and get two or three five gallon cans of it. One day he
was making this candy, stlrrlng away, and he had his pipe in the
corner of his mouth and he went to say somethlng to somebody and
his pipe dropped off into the bowl of candy. He told us kids, boy don't
tell Eleanor, she wouldn’t let us eat it - we'll just make out like it
didn't drop in there and we'll go ahead and make the candy. When we
got it all done we would take it and pull it out, stretch it until it
would turn white and be good molasses candy.
It would be a lot better - it gets full of air when you pull it. We used to
make candy out of honey too - the same ways - and sometimes we

- would use both together and that would make good candy. But that
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was about the only candy we ever made - we couldn't afford sugar to
put in it. : '

ﬂ‘l wante_d to tell you about the first suit of clothes I had. | was about
14 years old and Emery was raising corn down at Dry Creek and he
had rented a place called (sounds like Millard Beals?). The bank had
taken over a plot of land that they had repossessed, somebody
couldn't pay the taxes on it. Anyway, Emery was raising corn an_d he
would have us hoe the weeds out of it. Those rows must have been a
_half-mile long. He would give us so-much-a-day to hoe the weeds out
of that corn. And that so-much-a-day was 25 cents and that isn't
much for a whole days work in the hot sun. Anyway, | made enough
money to send back to Spiegel for this suit of clothes that cost
$12.50. Worked all summer long to earn the money to get it.

Mainly | wanted it because it had long pants - and mainly before |
always wore knee pants which fit up tight around your knees and
that leather ball would itch and make it sore around there - | hated to
wear those things when we went to town or to Sunday school. So
that was my first suit and | remember how pretty it was - it wasn't
navy blue - it was a little bit lighter than navy blue but still kind of
dark. It had a checkered vest that went with it. The vest was
checkered on one side and plain blue on the other side so it was
reversible and you could wear it however you wanted. Boy, | thought
1 was the cock-of-the-walk when | put that suit on. The first pair of
Jong pants | ever had!

"1 remember when Austin and | were little fellers - school was out - so
we came down to Dry Creek to spend the summer. We decided we
would have us a little garden. So Dad gave us a piece of ground
inside the fence - it wasn't very big - only about 20 x 20. We got to
planting stuff in there - planted all kinds of vegetables radlshes,
lettuce, carrots, turnips - all kinds of stuff. We ran out of seeds and
Austin wanted to plant corn - just plain old field corn in the rest of it.
I got mad and was going to dissolve partnership with him - | wouldn't
have a garden with him. Ma came out to see what the big fuss was

‘and | told her Austin wants to plant field corn in here - anybody
knows - look at any encyclopedia in the world and you would find out
that corn aint garden chuck - and they all laughed at me for that! But
we had a pretty good garden after all = - we salvaged everything
posslble out of |t



&

When we used to go to school up to Kanaraville in that old
schoolhouse - it had a flat roof with a drain pipe where the water -
‘could run down the corner of the bulldmg. It was about a 4-inch cast
iron pipe. | guess the electric lines were tied i in there somehow and
one of them was touching that pipe. We dldn't know it but we found

_out if we would take hold of that pipe and touch the railing - the

~ porch railing was made out of metal too - if you touched that you got

" a big shock! We didn't know what was happening - us kids didn't |
have much sense anyway to speak of so we found out when one
person got hold of the pipe and we all held hands around in a circle

_and the other one would touch that iron rail on the railing of the
porch then we would all get a shock and we waited to see which one
would turn loose the quickest! And that was a game! It is a wonder

e didn't all get electrocuted!

TELLING SAME STORY REGARDING TWILLA WILLIAMS - TAPE 1
PART 2

=>~When we were kids down on Dry Creek we used to go out to the
sheep camps where people were lambing sheep and sometimes a
mother to a lamb would die or they would have maybe 3 lambs and
they would only take care of two because they only had two nurses.
If they had 3 lambs - usually one of them would get starved out so
they gave them away - we called them dogies. They were orphaned
lambs is what they were. We would raise those darn things until they
got up pretty big so they could go with the herds of sheep and take

- care of themselves eating grass and such; then we would sell them.
We would do pretty good - sometim,es we would get $3 or $4 dollars
for each one of them. And if we had a bunch of them we could get

" rich! We always managed to sell the lambs by the 4th of July, or the
24th - so we would have some ‘money to spend on the 4th of July. |
remember, Mabel Wivll'iams, her husband John Henry Williams,' would
go up on. the mountain and cut cubes of ice and put them in what he
called an ice house - buried them in sawdust till summertime then
make ice cream. And boy we loved that ice cream! You could buy a
big old cone for 5 cents and if we could sell a lamb we could get all
the ice cream we could eat for two or three days! Most generally,
though, WQ would end up buying clothes with it.

———



One time | bought me a pair of purple pants - they were bell bottoms
- the big flared bottom pants - actually they were Mexican pants -
they had a big striped braid down the outside, so | bought me a big
Mexican straw hat with those tassels all the way around it. I was a
Mexrcan then! '

1 remember the 4th of Julys and the 24th both celebratlons. We had

- agreat time! They always arranged foot races out on the town '
square to see who the fastest racer was. They had sack races and
they had an iron pole down there, and they would grease it, and see
who could climb the furthest on that greasy pole. They greased it
with axle grease. Then they had sack races where they put you in a
sack, pulled it up around your waist and then you had to ;ﬁse'e who ran
the fastest. They had hobble races where two people would get |

' together and they would tie your right leg together with the other
person’s left leg and then they had couples like that to see who
—could run the fastest. '

I really thought I was going to town then!! Some dude - |

7"! also remember Mother on the 4th of July. She always managed to
buy a can of salmon. She loved that canned salmon. She would buy a
can of salmon and try to divide it among the kids, there were always
about 7 or 8 of us kids at home at that time, but she always managed
to give us a taste of it, would hardly get any herself. But that was
one thing Mother loved - canned salmon - and she loved cantaloupe
too. We always raised lots of cantaloupes. Speaking of melons, they

 built a big cement bridge across Ash Creek Canyon down toward
Hurrlcane. They worked on it all summer long, maybe two summers,

- they finally got it finished and they were going to open it up and they
were havu_ng a big celebration. They had all kinds of stuff - but 1 do
remember the watermelons."They brought them up there in big ;
wagon loads. We all had a big watermelon bust - we would just break
them open, pop them on a rock and grab the heart out of them, throw
the rest away, and go get another one. They had tons and tons of
watermelons. They finally ended up throwing the watermelons off ,
this big tall bridge to watch them splatter when they hit the b_ottom.
That was quite an exciting time too. -
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1 guess you realize by the way I talk that we are growing up a little

_bit now and I'll tell you a little bit about my teen-age' times. One thing
| remember real good - | guess | was in love. | had puppy love - was
almost sick to my stomach. We had these two girls Edna Anderson
and Lucy Ramey - Lucy Ramey was a girl that i came up from'

‘California to visit with Edna Anderson. They had a ranch between our

place and Kanarra. We used to go up there and see those girls.
Austin and I decided we would go up there and have a big chicken

roast. So Ma gave us a chicken and we cleaned it and putitinaflour

sack and put it on the back of the horse and took off up there. We
got up there just about dusk - we told them what we were going to
do and looked and we had the bag but no chicken. The bottom had
~ fallen out of the bag. So Austln sent me back to look for it. | went
back a couple of miles down the road and found it - and when | found
it, it was all dirty and I thought we can't use this so I took it up and
showed Austin. He said it was all right, the girls said they would just |
‘wash it off. So they took it down to the creek and washed it real
good. We rolled that chicken in clay and baked it in a hot fire and
when the coals went down we baked it. We were really having
ourselves a party. And it really turned out good. While we were
- cooking that chicken in the clay, Lucy Ramey had a ukulele and she
used to sing to us - she was the only one who could sing wortha
darn. But she was a good singer and she would Sing songs to us. |
remember she used to sing that song Get Out and Get under the
Moon - boy that was one of my songs forevermore. | still remember
that song. But our love finally broke off. One day Dad went to town -
he rode the horse up by that place. He said you guys got this horse
rulned every time it goes by that guy’s ranch; it wants to turn in and
go to their place! -

Lucy Ramey went back to Los Angeles - 1 guess that's why I forgot
“about her. '

After' that we used to go to town in the summertime - and always on

' the weekend when no one was working. We would fool around all day
until about sundown, little after sundown. All of a sudden the girls
would start streaming across the street - arm in arm they would go
down Kanarra's main street singing songs - then us boys would go
behind them and we would start singing and then we would all get
together and we would all sing. Finally we would have a big party of
some kind - we would either have a big potato roast or a corn roast



~or watermelon bust or something like that. Then around about 11
“o'clock, people would start to pair off - it wouldn't matter if it was a
cousin or not - we all went with cousins just the same as if we
weren't cousins because we weren't intelidmg to get married
anyway. But I remember we really, really had a lot of fun. | remember )
we used to play Sheepy and run allover that country side hiding and
let the other team hunt for us - that was a lot of fun.
| remember the best place we use to take our walks was back in the
fields - we had what we called Kanarra Lane - it would go down by
the cemetery - it was where the people used to go to get to their
fields down through there - probably a couple of miles long. We
would go down there with the girls, arm-in-arm, and sing songs,
really had a good time. That was where my cousin Helma learmed me

_how to french kiss. Course, a kiss was just a kiss to me in those
days. | was about big enough at this time to be going with the girls
and | remember | had Ardella Williams was my first love. | guess we
had puppy love. | -re_member we use to be down to Dry Creek and |

could hardly stand it till | could go up and see Ardella. The funny part

about it was | didn't have any excuse to go see her. Sometimes |
would get Lorraine, who was the same age, to go get Ardella and
bring her down to stay over night so | could get to see her. Other
times | would go up to play with Allison, he was the same age as me,
but that was miserable because | hated him - | didn't like him at all -
but would do that just in order to get up there and be close to
Ardella. But 1 remember how miserable it was to be in love. It was
terrible - but finally | grew out of it. She was a beautiful girl then -
she was blond, kind of short, she was a little bit heavy but boy she
Was about the prettiest thing in Kanarraville. Lorraine and 1 went
“over to her mother’s house to see her one time when we were up
‘there on a vacation and that was after we had all grown up and
married and had kids and everything else. In fact, all our kids were
married. Boy, Ardella, she didn't look too good then - she dldn't look
half as good as my wife!

1 used to go over to New Harmony quite a bit and fool around over
there. I had a friend, Carlisle Hale, and Riley Adair - oh there were
several of them - Coot Sing and Merlin Isom. One time we were up
there and we decided we would go up to the corn patch. Old Godly
Smooch was an ornery old buzzard - he would always take a shotgun
after you if he caught you - but we would go after his watermelons -

fz_ypi 32



he had watermelons planted in the corn patches. We were up there _
seeing if we could find a ripe watermelon one night and | remember|l
heard this rustlmg commg up through the corn fields - instead of
running we decided to lay still at the bottom of the corn and maybe
he would miss us. He got closer and’ closer and 1 told Carlisle Hale
boy; | wish my mama had me - and he sald I'wish mine had never had
me!l! Boy we were scared that night! -

One t'ime' Merlin 'Isom- he was a cousin of mine who got accidentally
shot with a 22 when he was a kid and blew half his brains out - they
found him _where'he was Ieying and there was about a half teacup of
brains Iayihg there - they didn’t think he would live but they doctored
him up and he got little better but he always said things screwy -
said them all mixed up - he would say everything went black as a
ghost - stuff like that. It was really funny being around him. But him
and Glenn Grant, we called him Coot Sing because when he would
see a little baby he would always say oh he's a little coot smg, coot
sing - and so we call him Coot Sing!

‘They were up at Pace's farm one time going swimming - | wasn't
there - | heard them tell about it later - they were swimming in the
nude - skinny dipping up at Pace's farm. It was about a half mile up
the hill outside of New Harmony. Some girls came up there and
decided they would playa trick on them - so they took their clothes -
and hid them. The boys got cold and wanted to get out of there and
the girls wouldn't give them their clothes! They told the girls give us
our clothes or we are going to come after you! - The girls just sat
their glgglmg. All of a sudden the guys got out of the water and
Merlin and Glenn took out after them. Chased them bare naked all
the way down to the main street of town. The girls had thrown the
clothes away but they st|ll kept chasmg them because they found
out they were scared. .

I used to go to work in the summertime over at New Harmony for Ed
Hall (1 stayed at Billy Isom house but was working for Ed Hall). |
didn't get paid any money - | always got paid in produce - either take
hay or grain for my work. Austin wouldn't go out there to work - he
said he wasn't going to work for hay or grain. So I would save it up
and when wintertime came I'd sell it when people needed it for their
animals - so | would have a little money in the wintertime - that
always came in handy. Didn't make an awful lot of money because |



worked for $1 a day - you could get about a ton of hay for $4. It
would take an awful lot of hay to make very much money. Sometimes
I would take potatoes - they were a pretty good seller. You could
_always sell corn - if you could get any comn. People always bought
corn for their hogs and chickens. :
_One Fall a bunch of us guys - teenagers - .eouldn't find any work
‘anywhere around so we all got together and went up to Provo - out
on the Provo Ranch - looking for work. We all got to work for acouple
of Greek brothers up there - they had a big tomato patch. They gave
- usa job picking tomatoes for them. | remember we would pick those
, tomatoes for - | forget how much per ton - it wasn’t very much - we
made about $2.50 per day - and you had to pick an awful lot of
tomatoes to Uck a ton of them! We plcked them by hand then.
Another time f%n Denzrf and | went up to Provo and stayed with
Lula and picked apples for this old fellow; in this apple orchard. It
was the first time | ever heard of the Red Delicious apple. We worked
all fall there and when we got ready to come back home neither one
of us had over $3 or $4. So we didn't make too much money there!

| remember now, on those tomatoes, when we were picking them -
we got $2.50 a ton. And we had to pick forty 50-1b boxes to weigh a
ton. After we got through picking the tomatoes we all got a job in the
cannery - stacking cans - you would stack them when they came off
the racks - they would be hot and we would have to stack them up to
cool in a big barn. We also had to get them and bring them out and
put them in boxes and send them down to be labeled. Then every
time a contractor carne through for different kinds of tomatoes they
would put their labels on it. That's when | found out it doesn’t make
any dlfference what brand tomatoes they are - they are all the same

| anyway' One day they would be leby s - the same cans already
canned up next day it would be Del Monte and rlght on down the line!
So it didn’t make any difference. The same with the ketchup too.

I've had some awful dirty jobs in my life too. One spring, Joey and | -
an old hide buye,r would come by there; he was an old Jew who used
to buy hides. He told us if we could get some wool, he would buy
wool from us. We told him we couldn't get any - and he told us _well,
why don't you go out here where the sheep have died during the
winter and when the summer time comes and they start rotting - you
can take something to just scrape the wool off - put it in a gunny
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sack and I'll buy it from you. | think he paid us 6 cents a pound for it. .
So we decided we would try it. We got the sheep men to tell us
where their sheep had died - the different locatiohs around the
country there. We went out there with each one of us with a little
garden hoe - we sawed the handle off it - so we could take it and.

- scrape the wool off these rottmg sheep. Boy would it stink - we had

. totiea handkerchlef around our mouth and nose so we couldn't o

smell them quite so much, before we could even stand to get up

" there and get that wool off. That was one of the very worst jobs we
had. During the Depression time around 1930 and 1934 - the

. government was buying up a bunch of sheep from the sheep men
because they couldn't feed them during the winter and they were
starving to death. The government didn’t want them to go busted so
they would buy up the sheep. The men that owned the sheep could
keep the hides. So we had to kill the sheep first to get the hides. So
me and Joe took a contract with Armold Graff one time - we had to
kill 700 head of sheep and skin them. First we started shooting them
with a 22 - shooting them in the head and wait till they die and then
start skmnmg them. But that got so it was too slow and bullets cost
too much so we got where we just catch them with their hind leg,
throw them down, bend their neck over our knee - we had a hold of
their chin and would bend their neck back so they couldn’t get away
and then cut their throats. That sounds like an awful thing but 1 went
through a lot of that. And we finally got those sheep all done - we
only got 10 cents apiece for doing that. And we also had to take the -
carcass and the guy had dug a big hole with a tractor and we had to
haul them in there, then throw sagebrush on them and burn them.

CIf remember correctly, |t was 1932 when President Roosevelt was

- elected. | remember the deals he came up with - one of them was
that the people were all going into the banks to draw their money out
and he was afraid the banks would all go bankrupt so he ordered all
the banks in the U.S. to close their doors. About a week later he told
them they could open them and if the people wanted to draw their
money out they could draw it out at 25 cents on the dollar - which
would make them lose 75% of their money - so they didn’t draw it
out. Well, because they didn’t draw it out, the banks stayed open and
they could still loan out money and that kept them afloat. That was
just one of many good things that President Roosevelt did. Around
about that time he came up with another deal - CCC Camp - Civil
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Conservation Corp. - that was just for young men - it would be like
they drafted them into the Army but they would go into the CCC and
they would put them in a camp and they would do odd jobs like
building roads, bridges, and dams - because it was good for the :
country. They were paid $30 a month. Unfortunately I didn't get inon
‘that. That had the WPA - that was a work project they got going to do
different thmgs for the country - SImllar to CCC except it was for the
‘older people that had families. My Dad worked on it and they started
re-doing the streets there in Kanarraville - he had a team and a
wagon - so he helped haul gravel for the roads. They never had any
other kind - they were just dirt roads. After they got that done they
started putting rock ditches all around Kanarraville because they
had water running down each side of the houses because that is
where they got the water for drinking and washing - and in order to
keeb it so it wouldn't dry up and such they had these rock ditches -
so they had a project doing that. Well, about that time, | don't
remember exactly what year it was but it was about 1933 or
somewhere around there, my Dad had been up to Kanarra and they
had been celebrating the 4th of July and he used to drink some on
holidays - he came home that night - out to Dry Creek - and he slept
out under the trees on a cot out in front of the house. When he got up
to go to the bathroom, he started stumbling, he was a little tipsy
~anyway, and he banged his head against that cement wall of the
house. The next morning he got up and had a terrible headache -
took a lot of aspirin and couldn’t cure it - it lasted about three days.
One morning when mother tried to wake him up, he was paralyzed -
he had had a stroke - he was completely paralyzed. The only way we
_had to make a living then was on WPA and he couldn’t work
anymore. | was the oldest one in the family still at home - the oldest

- one of the boys - and | was nominated to carryon the work field - so |

- went to work there; helped fill in the ditches - worked out at the rock
quarry in Spring Creek Canyon till we aimost froze to death it was so
cold. But they made us work out there anyway; fortunately we only
had to work part of the month - because they were only allowed so |
much a month. And when we got our allotment worked out they
would have to lay us off until the next month - so we did have a little
time off then. | stayed with that until they had all the ditches done in
Kanarra. Then they started another contract - two fellows from over
around Kanab took a contract to put in a pipe line clear from the
Spfings up in the canyon above Kanarra and they piped in down to a
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big water tank. Then we had to dig the trenches from there, all down
through every street in Kanarra and they all had to be at least 4 feet
deep. Some of those ditches they made us go down about 11 feet
~ because there was a little swale in the ground. It is a wonder they
didn't cave in on us and kill us they were so deep. = ‘ .
‘1 mean to tell you, those bosses the contractor really poured iton
us - they worked the heck out of us. That was the year 1 stayed with
Willard Batty and Wanda, my cousin. | got really acquainted with
Wanda - - you've probably heard about her. She was my double cousin
- she was a little older than | was - about 5 years but | really Ioved
that glrl not as Iove, love - but as a fnend.

I can’t begln to tell you all the thmgs I've done I'm just hlttlng the
high spots a little bit. But when we finished up ‘that WPA project -1
worked on there for three years to keep our family going - it was the
only source of money they had - of course, 1 didn't get any of the
money - it all went for groceries and stuff like that, that we had to
have. But we had good times inébetween - we always had good
Christmas’s. We liked to get together and. go up to Cedar to the
movies. You could go on Wednesday nlghts and get in for 15 cents -
we would try to save up enough money so we would have 15 cents to
go the movies. One night Willard Williams, a friend of mine | used to
buddy around with a little; we had been to a movie up there and
when we came out that night and we stopped down the street and
there was an old railroad car there - they called it the diner because
|t was a railroad dining car. We went in there to buy a hamburger -
you could buy one for a nickel - pretty good hamburger too. It
seemed a lot better than those McDonald hamburgers!! We went in
there and ordered these hamburgers and saw this most beautiful girl
sitting on the edge of the table playing the guitar - she was pretty
“little blond girl. Boy 1 really fell for her - she sang so beautlful she
had a beautiful voice - and she sang us some songs. She sang this
song called Too Many Parties, and Too Many Pals.

I finally got my nerve up (in between songs) and | said how about
going out some night - I'd like to have a date with you - she said sure!
- Just like nothmg I said when, and she said anytime - so | said |
would come up Friday night and pick you up. She said o.k. I'll be:
here. Well it so happened on that same Friday night old Joe Stapely
came around there, he was a friend of mine, he asked me how |
would like to go to California. I told him | couldn't go to California |
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didn't have any money. He said, well I got a good chance; you can
down with me. He said 1 have to drive Cliff Quinn's truck down there
to get a load of water well pipes. Cliff Quinn was a friend of Joe's -
he was drilling wells out there west of Cedar. | said yes | would go
down there with him. He was just going to pick up the pipe and come
back. So we‘got in the truck and got down there between Las Vegas
and Yermo and the wheel bearing went out. We had CIiff Quinn' s wife
W|th us - she wanted to go down to San Fernando too - but she was
‘going to stay down there. She suggested that we flag the bus down
(she had enough money for her bus ticket) and she would send a_
bearing back the next day. It so happened it was a three-day holiday
(Friday, Saturday and Sunday) - so they couldn’t send it back until
Monday. We had sometime out there in that desert broken down.

TAPE 4

We had a few bottles of chili sauce and some peach preserves that
Ma had sent down to Violet - which we were supposed to take to her.
We ate some of those peach preserves and got so thirsty we could
hardly stand it - and of course the chili sauce dldn't go to well
without anything else to eat with it. So Joe and | we decided that it
was about time we got something to eat. So we looked in our
pockets and got a little money out, 50 cents or so, and flipped a coin
to see which one would hitchhike back to Baker and get something
to eat. Joe won, so | had to stay with the truck and he hitchhiked. He
was gone a couple of hours and then he came back. Boy we got
- something to eat now; I've got a big can of deviled meat and a box of
soda crackers. So we started eating that stuff. | noticed the big can
- didn't have a label on it. When we got through eating, he said you
'know what you were eating? - 1 said, deviled meat I guess, it tastes
like it. He showed me the label and it was a can of dog food! You
don't know how good those dogs eat - it tasted pretty good. Well,
finally, Monday about 11 o'clock, here came the bus - and dropped us
off a package. We already had the tools to do it with so we finished
fixing the truck - put the wheel bearing on - and drove on in to San
Fernando. Joe took me down to Violets place (my sister Violet); she
lived in San Fernando and dropped me off. He went back up to Cliff's
place to see Cliff's wife and get the directions about getting the
water well pipe. He came back down to our place the next day and
said well, we can’'t get baek hohie now; the people that Cliff got the
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truck from - he hadn’t paid them in four or five months - and they saw
~ it and came and repossessed it and took the truck away. So there we
were stuck. Boy, | didn't know what to do then. It was lucky Violet:
was there and her family so we could stay with them. Of course, this
was durmg the depress:on and everyone was havmg a heck of a time
: gettmg by. I loafed around there for a whlle and helped Violet as well
as | could and helped George if he had anything to do. SOmetlmes he
would have been something to do - he did a little gardening on the
side - he worked i in a bank as a jamtor. He would go to work real
early in the morning and get off at 10 a.m. when the bank opened and
then didn"t have to go back until 3 o'clock in the afternoon when the
bank closed. He would let me help him some so | could earn a little
bit of money - I didn’t have hardly any. Finally, one day George came
home and said Woodrow, | got you a job! Boy, | was tickled to death -
I said what is it? He said working in the hotel - and | was just this
greenhorn kid from Dry Creek and it scared me to death, even the
thoughts of it. But | went to work up there - it was in the Good Half
Hotel in San Fernando. | worked four hours every day - six days a
week and | got $4.50 for the whole week’s work. That's not very
much money - but you would do anything then in order to have a job.
One day, quite a while later, George found me another job. This job
was working in a wrecking yard - | had to take all the brass, copper,
and aluminum - all the precious metals so to speak - and pile them up
in piles. | tore the cars apart, took the motors out - whatever 1 could
do around there. But that wasn't a very good job either - | worked 9
hours a day, seven days a week for $9.00! | stayed at it for a couple
of months; finally Violet would give me a show ticket to go to the
show if | would tend her kids when they went at night. They used to
Ilke to go on Wednesday nights. One night she came home all tickled
‘to death - - they had what they called a bank mght - it-had been
building up - it started out about $50, I guess. No one won it that
Wednesday night and the next Wednesday it built up another $50 and
she came home and she had won $450! On that thing. So she
wouldn'tfspen_d it for anything; she wanted a new home. She found
out that if she bought the ground she could get an FHA loan to build
the house. She bought the lot for $450 and when she went to get the
contractor (there were two or three contractors that wanted the job).
There was: this old German guy, Ed Feiss; he wanted the job pretty
bad. Violet told him well, I'll tell you, this here is Woodrow, my
brother, and he hasn't got any work and if you'll let him work as a
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~carpenter’s helper or laborer while you're building the house, I'll let
you have the contract. He said well, that's a good deal, I'll do that.
' So he contracted that house, got a WPA loan for the whole house,
plus the lot, only cost $2600. | worked until they got that. house
finished. Ed Feiss (?) said you want to come to work for me on
- ‘another house? So | went down and helped h|m put in forms and pour
a foundation and helped on two or three more. One day we were
tearmg the forms off the foundatlon of one house' we got the forms
- off and he wanted me to pull the nails out of all the boards and stack
them up. 1 got that done - so | went over to where the carpenter's
were putting the floor joices down and started helping them by
nailing one in while the other guys were nailing the others in. Ed
Feiss came along and said hey, you like carpenter work. I told him |
don't kndw I haven't done any yet. He said if | wanted to work for
him for common labor pay, he would help me in Ieammg the trade,
and as | advanced he would give me a little higher pay. So | stayed
“with him and inside of a year | was drawing full carpenter's pay. That
put me on easy street then - | was making $24 per week!
That was a far cry from $9 a week.

1 was going to tell you something that happened in that hotel. | had
to clean the bathrooms; they had one bathroom on each floor. People
~ would have a key for it. But | had a key too; the woman | worked for
‘told me that when 1 went in that ladies bathroom to be sure and lock
the door after me so they wouldn't come in. One morning 1 forgot to
lock the door. You would go through the door off the hallway; then to
the right there was a bathtub. It didn't have a curtain on it - then
there was a short partition wall on the end of the bathtub then the
door to go into the tmlets, and each toilet had a swinging dooron it. |
got in there that mommg and was cleaning the toilets; pretty qulck 1
heard the water running in the bathtub oh, man, was | really scared -
so | stayed right down there with my head in that toilet - | didn't dare
look up until | heard the door slam, and lock on the other side going
out. | was so scared; | couldn’t have looked at a naked woman if they
had paid me for it! But a littie later on, this lady that | worked for told
me this woman wanted to move from the hotel down to an apartment
house. She wanted to know if 1 would help her; she would pay me a
~dollar, to carry the things down to her car - then carry them up to her
apartment at the other place. | got the stuff in the car and got in the
front seat and we started down to the apartment - and she said |
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knew you were in that bathroom the other day when | was taking a
bath - and | said you did? - She said yes and | said well you were
safe; 1 was so scared | couldn’t look anyway. She kind of laughed and
~just laughed it off. She was a little Japanese woman - a nhice woman.
‘But the reason,l was tellihg you this is that I was really scared!

-George came home from the bank one tlme and sald he had a good
‘deal for me - a 31 Model A Ford Coupe - with.a rumble seat. It had
been repossessed and he could get it for me for $150 and they only
- wanted $10 down and $10 a month. Well | took a chance -1 was
going to get that car. |1 went with him to sign the papers and gave
him the $10 and drove that car away. Boy, it was a snazzy little car -
real pretty car. | was really going high and wide then - had a little
‘better chance to get a girl!! There was this fellow who drank an
awful lot - | drank some too but not as much as this guy did - old
Harold Hanson. He had a little sister - and Harold wanted to take his
wife out partying one night and he had his sister babysitting his kids.
The sister asked me if | would come up and visit with her while she
was babysitting. That little gal was cute and good-looking, but she
‘'was cross-eyed! And she looked kind of funny when she looked right
"at you. She kept telling me that | was too good to be going around
with her brother Harold; said he was no good and | shouldn't
associate with him. | went with her two or three times - one night |
was sitting on the couch with her and she started to cry and | asked
her what she was crying about. She said she wanted me to quit
running around with Harold - that he wasn't any good and he would
get me in trouble. So 1 quit running around with Harold. One day
Austin and Gladys were going down to San Pedro - as a matter of
fact they were taking this girl down to San _Pedro because her
‘mother was down there. So her and | were in the backseat on the
way down there. She got to crying again! She was all broke up about
me being too good to go with her brother! You know, she was so
~ cross-eyed that the tears would run down the back of her neck! On
the way down to San Pedro we s_topp'ed at a service station and |
went to get out and tore my corduroys on the corner of the car door -
tore a big three-cornered hole on the thigh. She told me she would
sew it up - if 1 would take my pants off she would take them in the
house and sew them up. So when we got there | sat in the backseat
of the car until she brought them back out to me!
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Then | knew another little girl - Violet introduced her to me at church
- I had to go to church to see her! That didn't last too long - | was too
wild for her! | had another friend, Hoyt Sharp (?) - He liked to go to
dances. We would go down to Burbank to the Barn dances once in a
while - but mainly we liked to go up to-Newhall - they had a place
‘they called the French Village - a big dance hall - they had tables all'
around the edges so people could sit around the edge but there was
a big dance hall in the middle. We would go up there and raise hell
and dance. I use to win some prizes up there - doing the jitterbug -
believe it or not! | was quite a jitterbugger. Well, on our way home
one night we had had one too many - going down to San Fernando -
about ten miles or so - we were going up this hill and the car didn't
have very good lights - but there was this truck going real slow with
no lights at all! It was a flat bed with a load of potatoes (potato
sacks) - we hit into that darn thing and just sheered off the front end
of that car. My nose hit the steermg wheel and | broke my nose. That
‘was the only bone | ever broke in my life. Somebody, I don't know
who,- called the ambulance and they took us back to the hospital. 1
was hurt worse than Hoyt was - and when | woke up the next
morning he was there with a wet washrag trying to wash the blood
off my face. | thought that was so pitiful - that guy trying to tend me
while 1 was in the hospital. We got out of the hospital (we stayed in
one night and until late the next afternoon) and George came up and
-got us. When | got the bill from the hospital you couldn’t believe it - it
was $41! | never did go back and get the stitches out - | took them
out myself. | was thinking this was that Ford - but this all happened
before | got the Ford. | had borrowed Verle's car - | had tore it up - he
had an old Overland Whippet (I thmk) Another time Jimmy and |
were gettmg one on one night, a Friday or Saturday mght, and it was
raining that mght - | remember we went to Verle's house that was
when Rochelle was a little baby. We were kidding Glenna about it
and she said when she really kills you is when you give her a bath in
the morning. We asked her what time did she give her a bath and she
said, oh, about 8 o'clock. So we tol'd her we would be up there to
~ watch. Well, we got to-fooling around and ended up over in Los
Angeles. | was driving - Jimmy was too drunk to drive - 1 guess | -
probably was too because when | came to a stop sign | hit into a big
~ Cadillac with that Ford. They took us both to the hospital, then after
- that they took us to the Lincoln Heights jailhouse! We had kangaroo
court the next day Lyddie came down and bailed Jimmy out - the fine
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- was $100 or 30 days in jail. | didn't have $100 - she bailed Jimmy out
and left me there. Well, | was a pretty good boy so | got out in 18
days - they gave me time off with good behavior. 1 went back to work
for Ed Feiss again. There was a guy who came looking for me one

day - he talked to Ed. Said he was going to garnish my wages il

‘ dldn't pay to fix that Caddie back there. Ed said you'll have to stand
in line - that. guy owes me so much money he'll never be able to pay

- me back that's all he's working for - is to pay me back. Of course,
that was a lie - but he got me out of it and | was sure thankful for
that. Mind you, I'm telling this story of my life like it was - I'm not
trying to pull any punches. If things come up here that are a little
disturbing to you - well, you'll just have to pass over them because
that's the way it was. | just had to stay in jail at night - we went out
on the target range and marked targets for all the law enforcement
officers. So we were out in the open all day - so it wasn't too bad.
After Austin and Vida had separated; Vida was still working in that
cafe there, Past-time Cafe, and there was a girl from Beaver down -
there, so she roomed with her. They lived in a little apartment house
- with one little bedroom; and a living room and dinette-kitchen. |
went up to see this girl - her name was Betty White. | went with hera
couple of times - but this one night | went up there and she wanted
me to stay with her that night. | didn't want to stay there - and I said
No, Vida is here - she said well Vida sleeps on that couch - she would
never know you came in here= - so | said-well, maybe - we got to
necking there on the bed and finally we took our clothes off and got
into bed. She had all her clothes off except her pants and her bra and
I don't think she even had her bra on. But | got up and put my pants
on - and | through with it. Girl would never talk to me! Said
something is just not right about this - 1 couldn't’ go so I took off -
and that ended that love affair! Because of that she wouldn’t even
speak to me again - | saw her several times.

Well, it was late summer, 1940, and Austin and | went down to the
‘draft office and asked them how long it would be before our numbers
were up - to be drafted into the Army. At that time they were drafting
them in for a year and then they went home. That was before war
broke out. They told us that that mine wasn't for quite a while - but
Austin was going to be the next month. So we asked them if we went
home to Utah - could we volunteer to the National Guard - and skip
the draft. They said yes we could do that. So we got into his old car -



by that time | had all my cars wrecked - so we went in Austin's car
and went up to Utah and joined the National Guard. We figured if we
joined the National Guard we would be with all those other fellows
from Utah and it would be one big company. lt'didh’t turn but that
way though after we got going. While | was waltmg to go into the
'National Guard - they wouldn’'t let us go m until the 4th of February,
‘-‘.-1941 ‘and this was still 1940, late fall. One night Joey and | decided -
- to go up to Cedar and see some girls - when we got up there he said |
he had him a gurl but he didn't know where to get me one. Then he
said he thought he knew where he could find me a girl. So we went
up to this house - out on the edge of town - and he went and knocked
on the door - we went in there - ‘this girl was sitting on the couch -
Tittle blonde gal - - and old Toot Roundy was sitting at the table - old
Toot said right away well, come on in, come on in. Pauline's mother
said do you know these guys? And he said, hell yea | know thém -I'd
know Samuel Pollock's boys anyWhere. Well, 1 was all dressed up
like a dude! 1 had white pants on and navy blue turtle-neck sweater
with a white shirt collar pulled out around the top of it. | thought |
was a pretty classy guy then. Toot said Paulme, do you know these
guys - she said I've never seen that one in my life - | said _oh, yes you
have - | came up once-to keep a date with you. She said you never
had a date with me! | said, yes 1 did; about four years ago - |l was
supposed to come back on a Friday night - and then it dawned on her
then. Anyway, she went out on a date with me that night. | kept
going back every day with as much time as | could spend.

We finally got in the National Guard on the 4th of February - my Dad's
~ birthday and we were all inducted into the Army - they changed it
from the National Guard to the regular army then. So the old troop
train was a whistlin’ - we stayed'arovund there a few days more after
we got inducted - about a week - then they loaded us all on this troop
train. All the girls and the moms and dads had come to see us off.
That was a pretty exciting day that day - but pretty sad too. We were
supposed to be back in a year - there was a song out that year Will
Be Back in a Year, Little Darling. But the way things turned out we
didn’t get back in a year. | went on down to San Luis Obispo and took
my basic training. In May Pauline wrote and told me she was
pregnant. 1 went to see old Capt. Peterson to see if | could get a
leave to go home and get married. He tried to talk me out of it - he
said how you know it's your kid - I said because she said it was - -he
fi nally gave in and let me go home. 1 got the furlough the 1st of June
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- so we got things arranged and decided to take Jimmy and Mother
up to Parawan - to the court house where we got marriéd to be
witness to the wedding. When we went up there, | remember Emory
was with us too, he had to go on jury duty in Parawan - a murder
trial. We séw_ this guy going down the street on a unicycle - bby he
was just a pedaling along. We all got to laughing - that was the

- funniest sight | had ever seen! First tlme I ever saw anyone riding a

‘ blcycle with one wheel! But anyway, we got in there - in the court

‘ house - and got things all done up. Then we went back on down to
Kanarra - and as soon as we got back into town a bunch of the young
people came - the guys all holding me and they took Pauline |
somewhere - god knows where - all the girls did anyway. We
proceeded to get drunk and all got pretty well lit up - I didn't get
home until about 3 or 4 o’clock in the morning - so we didn't have a
very good wedding night. The next morning Leila, Emory’'s wife,
invited us over to their place for dinner. She cooked a real nice
dinner - | think it was a turkey dinner. But she had a big dish of gravy
snttmg on the table - and when | went to push the chair up for Pauline
to sit down - she looked back at me for being so nice to her - gave
me a big smile. About that time she sat down and one of her boobs
landed in that gravy dish! Just could be as inhuman as they were.

We had captured a Japanese motor pool - where they had a bunch of
trucks. Most of them were all blasted and blown to pieces - but we
discovered that in their gas tanks they used alcohol. Some of the
guys would take a nail or something sharp and drive it up through the
bottom of the gas tank and draih it - then they would drink it and get
~ drunk! | drank a little of it one night myself. The Colonel ,g'ot wind of
it and put a stop to all that. He said that he had to have it a_n_alyzed
- to see if it wasn't poison for us. It turned out that it wasn't - it -
wouldn't hurt you really but they destroyed all the trucks and made
sure the gas tanks were all blown off. The Japanese captured a lot of
sugar factories over there. They made distilled alcohol out of the
sugar to run their trucks. One day we saw a big rack of sugar sacks -
big 100 pound sacks. Must have been a hundred yards long and 20
yards wide - just a huge amount. But they left it out until the rain had
almost dissolved it and it rotted away. It was sure a waste, when the
people in the U.S. had sugar rationing. It was kind of interesting the
way the Filipino's harvested the sugar cane. They would let it grow
until the leaves all got dry - it would look like a corn field - then they
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would set it afire and make sure it all burnt just the leaves off - then
there would just be long stalks. The stalks had so much juice in them
that they fire wouldn't burn them. Then they would cut it and haul it
in and run it through big rollers and squeeze all the j julce out of lt and
then b0|l it down to make sugar. : ‘
There's another thing you had to worry about - over there in the
Phlhppmes - you couldn't tell if they were- with the Japanese or they
were for the U.S. There was danger all the time for fear some of
them would kill you. One thing about it - it is a good climate in the )
Philippines - never too hot or too cold. It would rain sometime on you
but it wouldn't be cold the rain would be warm. '

TAPE 6

We all loaded on ships again to take off for Luzon. That was a big
‘island over where Manlla was - and Clark Field - one of the main
islands in the Philippines. After a couple of days out on the water we
came to our rendezvous - it was in the Lin-Gan Gulf - on the island of
Luzon. The ships (all the battleships, the cruisers, the destro_yers and
aircraft carriers - the whole works - as well as the troop ships) got
together for the invasion. We stayed out there in that Lin-Gan Gulf for
3 days sweating it out - didn't know what we were going to run into
when we got on shore. One of the things that was real scary about it
was that we would see these airplanes flying around way up high -
we could just barely see them - they would go around in circles for a
while - then they would find a target and they would fly right straight
down to hit into a ship. They were loaded with explosives.

They were the Japanese Kamikaze suicide bombers - most of the
time they were hit and knocked out of the air but once in a while

- they would hit one of the ships. After a while we dlscovered they
weren't after the troop ships - they didn't pay any attention to them -
they were after the mainly the aircraft carriers. We were there for
threedays then the command gave us the orders to go ashore. We
loaded on these landing barges and then we got out in the ocean and
make a big circle - a whole bunch of these landing barges would just
go around in circles until they were all loaded up and they had all the
equipment ready to go - then we would take off for shore. That was
the most scared 1 ever was during the war because I didn't know
what was going to happen! We had to go in as combat ready with our
rifles ready! All the time before that - the three days we waited - all
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the battleships, destroyers, and cruisers were hitting the jungles
along the coast to get rid of the Japs - to clear it before we got on
shore. Lucky we were when we hit that shore - it was the 9th day of
January in 1944 - we didn’t have hardly a shot fired at us. That was
really surprising because we thought we were going in under fire! So
we went in about 35 miles - then the Japanese eame after us - they
th'ou_gh_t WE HAD STARTED that damn war I guess - the way they
acted - because they came out of everywhere - millions of them it
seemed like. Every one of them had guns and grenades just giving
us hell! Then our Air Force came in and started strafing them and
chased them back up in the hills. We went in there so fast and
chased them back so fast that we ate up all our rations - all we had
were enough for 48 hours. We didn't have much to eat - ,bnt we ran
across this rice field - it had big stacks of rice. We shelled that rice
out by hand - into our helmets and boiled it and ate, with shells and
husks and everything. Up there with more groceries for us!! _
We chased the Japanese back into their holes way back in the hills -
especially in back of Clark Field - it was an American airport that the .
Japanese had taken over and they were using it. But our Air Force
bombed holes in the runway so the Japanese couldn't take off. it
tasted pretty good until the people got

When we went in there to capture Clark Field some of the Japanese
airplanes still had their motors running. The Japanese went back up
into the hills - they had big caves they had dug - had been working on
them for years | guess. Even had their railroad tracks - just narrow
ones - about two feet wide - they had little railroad cars that went
way back like a mine shaft. The infantry were the ones to try and get
them out of there. We didn't have much of a job to do. They fired into
the caves to try to blast the openings elosed. I was still driving that
same old truck - with the line crew. We went way up against the
mountain behind Clark Field after we had taken it back. The
engineers were patching the holes so we could use it they had one
strip open for our planes. We never did stay up the hill at night
always came back down where it was safer to spend the night. On
our way back down one night the artill'e_ry fire started corning from
up in the mountains and they were hitting right behind that truck!
The faster we would go the closer they would get! We finally got
going to fast we outran them - we ran out of their range. But | was
really scared with those shells right behind us. Two or three days
later the engineers went up there with the infantry to try to get them
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out of the caves. This one particular time we were watching through
some spy glasses and the engineers would climb over the front of
the cave on top of the hill and drop TNT down on a rope in front of
the cave and blast the front of it closed. The Japanese would come
out and cut the rope and it would start down the hill before it would
explode! .Fihally, they »deci’cled to use another tactic.r'ﬂie engineers
made s_omé rigging with rope and stuff - and the infantry men would
go up there with flame throwers. They would go in those caves and
the Japs would come out of there and they would just burn them to
death instantly. They went clear back through those caves and killed
all the Japs in those caves. They had a stack of Japanese airplanes
a mile high there! They would just stack them up. That was a good
thing they did - getting that air field back because that shut off all
the air power for the Japanese. They sent us back for rest after we
had captured Clark Field. We went back a little ways - we didn’t do
much of anythmg except rest up and get our equipment in order to
do some more combat. | think we were back there three or four days.
Then we went in again - but this time we went up there on those
mountains where the Marines had a big battle with the Japanese. We
had a detail going up there - with big dump trucks - and we had to
load those dead Japanese on those trucks. They would haul them
out and dig a big hole, dump the bodies in there, then cover them up
and buried them. That was a hell of a mess. | remember the flies
were so bad you couldn’t even eat anything without putting a
handkerchief over your mouth and sneaking the food up under it -
because you would eat flies! | never saw so many flies in my life - it
was really a filthy mess! That was one time | would rather have been
in hand-to-hand combat than on those details to clean up that mess.
One day they came and told us to put on our best clothes - if we
could find some in our duffel bags! - And made us all put on leggings -
" our combat uniform anyway. They made us go back out i in the water
and make that landing again because General McArthur didn't get his
picture taken in the newsreel because he wasn’t there when we first
went in. So we had to go make that landing again so he could come
in ahead of us and it would be in the newsreel. That was the very
first time | started hating McArthur. Another time they thought they
had the city of Manila secured and he had us get our leggings and
full dress uniforms and get in the back of the artillery trucks and we
would parade down through the streets of Manila. Well, the infantry
started down there and they found out there were too many Jap
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snipers hidden in the streets so we had to turn back. It’s a damn

‘'wonder old McArthur didn't get us all killed! We had a lot of heavy

fighting at Clark Field and Manila - that's a long island there - it was
quite a ways end had a lot of fighting becauSe the Japs were really
dug in there. One day we were going up to the observation post - to

~ direct fire for the artillery - we were |aymg the telephone lines for

commumcatlon. My crew took off over a deep canyon and we
couldn’t get the truck across so | was just fooling around there
beside my truck when a damn grenade went off a little ways from |
me. As a matter of fact, | was sitting in the truck - and as | went over

“the spare tire on the side - we had a big spare on the side by the

driver’s seat - and we had a big 45 Thompson sub-machine gun that

R the drivers all used instead of a rifle. As | went 0ver that tire 1

grabbed that gun on my way - and got down in a little gully on the
other side of the truck - a couple of more grenades came over- | was
lucky 1 didn’t get hit! But I finally got my senses - 1 laid there a Iong
time - then: I looked over on the other side of the truck and | saw a
foot stick up out of the tall grass so I was scared and | just took my
sub-machine gun (it had 30 rounds) and | jus_t went up and down that
gully with those 30 rounds - then everything was quiet for a while. So
1 1aid there till the gang got back and they asked me what had
happened. | told them what had happened. They went over and
looked and there were two dead Japs. They didn't have rifles but
they had all kinds of hand grenades and that's what they were using
for protection. At first I didn’t feel bad about it - but after a while |
got to thinking about it | felt bad that | had deliberately killed two
guys. | didn't hear the last of that for a while. After they found out
who they were they called me into the intelligence headquarters and
they asked me a lot of questions like I was in court! They asked me

- how 1 knew they were Japanese - | said | didn't know they were

Japanese but anyone who was going to throw grenades at me and
thought they could get away with it, | was going to shoot back! |
went up to the damn headquarters three different times - they asked
me different questions. Finally, the Captain said they had to fine me
for firing without an order. So he fined me a dollar - | had a dollar
with me. Then he gave me a carton of cigarettes! He asked me what
kind - and 1 said Camels - so he gave me a carton (to be repaid for
the dollar! | guess it was just a matter of records!).

We had an awful time on Luzon - the Japanese would sneak in behind
us and ruin our telephone lmes and we would have to go out and find
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where it was disconnected or cut. They finally got where they would
just stick a straight pin through the wires and it would short out the
two wires. How we finally found that out was that one of the guys
“was holding the line up out of the grass as he walked along and he
ran one of those pins into his hand. So after we found that out, we
would just lay new lines! Those damn Japanese were so snéaky One
time B COmpany they had four 105 Rifles - Howntzers big guns -
about 6 inches guns - they had them all aimed at the target in case
they had to use them that night. Those Japanese sneaked in there
behind the lines - they got in there some way or another - and they
planted dynamite charges in the breach - that's where the projectile
goes into the gun - and blew the breaches out of all four guns. But
‘not a one of them got away because when they were trying to get
out of there our guards shot them down with machine guns. But that
shows how sneaky they are. 1 didn't see it - but | heard tell - the
Marines were telling us that before we got in there those Japanese -
girls - Geisha gu_'ls would come out there and try to entice the guards
- they would hold up there dresses in front of them and show their'
bare legs and everything they had. When they would get up there and
get the G.l.'s attention they would drop their dresses and they would
have an automatic rifle or machine gun and shoot the guard. A lot of
them got killed that way. '

One day there was a bunch of us on patrol, there must have been 20
of us, and we ran across these Japanese that were working and
none of them had rifles so we captured them and took them into
headquarters. We marched them in there and thought we really got
some guys now. When we got them in there and got an interpreter he
started talking to them and found out they were Formosans, not
Japanese at all. :

They were forced labor the Japanese had taken over to build roads
and stuff. And we had captured all their workers!

When we finally got to Manila we went in behind the tanks - the
tanks went into the prisoner of war compound there - they had big
steel fences around them. So the tanks went in there and broke the
fences down and got in there where the prisoners were to release
them. That was an awful looking _sight- those prisoners were so
skinny they just looked terrible - some of them could hardly walk and
some of them were even laying on the ground practically dead. When
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they saw us G.l.'s coming in they even stopped the tanks they were
so glad to see us. They all gathered around the tanks so the tanks
couldn't even move. We stayed there talking to them quite a long
time. This one woman was tellmg us about how hungry and starved
they were. : :
There was a ‘kind of hedge around the fence and she said that her
and her friend would go out each morning in the hopes to fi find a f_ew
snails along that hedge that they could eat to keep from starving. Of
course we all gave them our C-rations and stuff we had in our packs
and they reélly appreciated that. They hadn't had any real food for a
long time! These people were all white people - there were some
Americans that got captured there on the Philippines - some of them .
were even G.l.'s wives and officer’s wives that were over there. ‘
When McArthur left there they didn't have a chance to go with him -
he had to take his nice furniture and stuff with him instead of the
people and little kids that needed to go off the island. But anyway, so
much for McArthur. Quite of few of these people were Norwegians
too - | don’t know what they were doing in the Philippines. In that
compbund there must have been 5,000 people they had in there
starving to death. |1 didn't see any little kids, any real small kids. We
were talking to some of the guys there in prison - we asked them if
the Japanese killed all the kids - they said no they didn’t have any
kids people were in too bad of a shape to even have kids! A woman
couldn't even carry a kid because they were so run-down.

Well, 1 survived all that combat that | went through. One time | was
122 days in combat - straight through. One day the Master Sergeant
came down there and told me Pollock - I've got good news foryou - |
asked him what kind of good news | could possibly have. He said
well, you got high points for the whole battalion to go home. Boy |
didn't know whether to cry or to shit or what to do! But | took his
word for it! What they were doing were giving points - they gave
points for every month you had in service, and another point for
every month you had been overseas and so many points for being in
‘combat and | had 123 - the most of anyone in the battalion - of
course | wasn't the only one leaving to go home - there were about
100 of us from the whole division. They sent us over to Laytee and
we had to wait for a ship home. Some of the guys had a choice - if
you wanted to gb in one way you could wait for an airplane and you
might get lucky and get to fly home. 1 didn't feel like taking any
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chances but in a couple of days a ship was pulling out so | stayed
and got on a ship and took off. The ship that I got on happened to be
one that was taking a lot of casualties back to the States and we
were going to land in San Francisco. This ship that I got on was
mostly casualtles from the East Coast and instead of transferring
them by train from San Francisco back to their homes, they rerouted
the ship and it had to go down around through the Panama Canal and
go up the coast to. New York. Well that. made our trip a lot longer. of
course, we didn’t mind too much - - even if we were in a hurry to get
home. When we came through the Panama Canal - while we were in
the locks - they let us go ashore. The USO had a big hall there for the
G.L's when they got off the shlp because it took 2-3 hours to get
through the locks. That was the first American glrl I had seenin 39
months! And that was a long time! They were mostly WAC's working
" in the USO handing out cookies and soda pop and stuff like that.

1 was going to tell ydu about those locks in the _Panama Canal - most
of you know it already probably - but at that point the Pacific Ocean
is 50 feet lower than the Atlantic Ocean - | hope I'm right on that - |
know one of them is 50 feet lower than the other. In any case, the
ship would drive into the locks - the Pacific side would be open and
they would go in on shallow water and when they got inside the
locks they would shut the Pacific side down and let the water slowly
in from the Atlantic side until it would raise up to the height of the
Atlantic Ocean then the ship could go on through. 1 think the actual
process took 5 hours, | think, to go through there. Then they would
open the locks and the ship could go out. It was a lot shorter than
going clear around the south tip of South America. If you went
around that way you would never notice that the water was higher
-on one side. Hope no body ever asks me why that is - because |

' couldn't answer that! |

We went on up the East Coast and docked at NeWport News, Virginia
and we got off the ship there and got all our luggage and they took
us on buses over to Fort Patrick Henry. It was an Army base there.
We were so glad to get there - we got our bunks and our beds lined
out in the barracks there - they had some old wooden barracks.

Then we headed for the mess-hall! First thing most G.1.'s did was
head for the milk and got them a big glass of milk! We hadn’t had any
milk in over three years' But '
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We pigged out and got all we could hold in our stomachs - we had
steak and everything! They gave us real good food! Then we all
decided we would go to the movie. Gone with the Wind was playing
that night. So we went down to the theater and lined up - waiting for
the people to come out of the matinee - and when they started
commg out we saw a deta:l of men - probably 100 guys - they were
Italian and German pnsoners and they were marchmg them in there.
They made us wait in line until they got them in and if there were any
seats left we got to go in. Boy that really burned us up. We were
about to have a big riot then!

We were the;e a fe'w,d_ays processing - then we got on the troop train
to head for San Francisco. We were headed west for a few days and
we go to Kansas City, Missouri. | forget which one (Missouri or
Kansas) sold whiskey. But anyway, they stopped and let us stretch
our legs and some of us went into the wet city - | forget which one
and got a bunch of whiskey. We got back on that troop train and boy,
‘those guys went wild! We were headed for Salt Lake City - and on our
way home! One of our stops before we got home some of the guys
'got off and got some paint and painted Wabash Cannonball allover
the sides of that train! We really thought it was the Wabash
Cannonball too because some of those guys were so drunk!! We
finally got into Ogden, Utah - pulled into the train depot there and 1
‘met my brother-in-law, Pauline's brother Raymond, there - he was
going back to camp - he had been on furlough. | asked him if he
would watch my train while | made a telephone call - | wanted to call
my Mother to tell her | was coming home. | couldn’'t get hold of
‘Pauline anyway and so | was calling my mother because Wren
Williams was always good to us and he was the next door nelghbor
“and he could always go get Mother if she had a phone call. So while
Raymond was watching the train he got mixed up and he thought1 -
meant another train - and our train pulled out and he was watching
the other! Anyway, that left me there foot alone and without a home -
I didn't have a way to get into Salt Lake - so | talked to the
Lieutenant on the other train and asked him where that train was
going and he said they were going into Salt Lake too! So | asked him
if 1 could ride with them and he said sure. So I got on with them and
when we got into Ft. Douglas - that is where we got off - we had to
go there before they processed us to send us home. When 1 got off
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the train and started up to the barracks | saw this guy lugging two
barracks bags - my old buddy Harvey Thomas - he came to the
rescue - he grabbed my duffel bag because he knew | got left - and
he had taken my belongings with him. i Was so thankful that he was
such a good friend and would do that for me. Well, it took us about
three days at Ft. Douglas to get processed and dnscharged out of the .
Army. We then got to go home. -

I took the bus down to Cedar to see Pauline - and when | got home
she didn’t tell me that she had the flu - she acted like she was
tickled to death to see me but she was real sick. But we had-a nice

- reunion! The next day | borrowed her brother's car and went down to
Kanarraville to see my Mother and Dad - I sure was glad to get home
-again.

Now that we were home again, we had this problem to find a job'to
make a living. They had a program where you,got on-the-job-training
where if you got a job with somebody, the government would pay you
$200 a month to start with and then every month as you got a little
bit better at the jOb, your employer would have to pay you some - but
the government would match it up to $200. Which meant that you
could only make $200 no matter what? That wasn't much to live on
but 1 stayed with that for about a year. When they figured 1 had
progressed for a year they thought the employer was paying the full
$200 so the government didn't need to give you any money any more.
But in my case, the fellow 1 was working with, George A. Wood, he
decided to layoff all of the guys' - unless they were relatives and had
been working for him all during the war.'l worked around Cedar
taking odd jobs - some of them my own - | shingled a house for guy -

- put a roof on for him - things like that for about 6 months. By the time
1 had been out of the Army 18 months | was: fed up with it! Couldn't

- find any work. The only work in Cedar was everyone worked for their
own family and if you were an outsider you had a hell of a time
getting a job. So Blaine and | one day went down to the _
unemployment office and were going to sign up for an unemployment
check. We saw a recruiting officer and he was talking to us about
what a good deal the Army had turned out to be. It was in the middle
of winter at this time and it was hard to get a job. We got to thinking
about going back into the Army. They promised us that they would
give us a full month allotment for our wife to pay rent and groceries
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with for a month before we went in there until we got our pay at the
end of the month. They also gave us some pay in advance too before
we went in again. It Iooked pretty rosy so me and Blain enlisted in
the Army.

\Ne went back to Ft. Douglas to get processed agam went out of
there and got a train and went to Ft. Ord, California. We had our
choice vth,en (you could choose where you wanted to go - Engineers
or Military) - we wanted Ft. Ord and the Engineers - or you could |
choose the military. But when we got to Ft. Ord we found out there
were no Engmeers there - we either had to ship out to Ft. Lewis,
Washmgton or stay in the Artillery or Infantry Division at Ft. Ord. So
we decided to st_ay at Ft. Ord. Then Pauline and Fern (Blaine's wife)
decided to come to California with us. So we found a place to live
and moved them down there. It was real hard to find some place to
- rent - we finally rented a little two-room shack in the back of a man's
yard. Blaine and Fern rented a tent-thing over in Pacific Grove. We
- suffered that out for quite a long time. Things were getting pretty
rough there - | was in a car-pool. | remember one day | came home
from Ft. Ord and we lived in Seaside in this little shack. Pauline said
_we haven't got a thing in this house to eat - | said oh surely we've
got something - she said no we don't. We were broke and didn't have
any money - so we told-Karen to watch after the kids - Jeannie and
Judy - and we started walking the streets to see if we could find
some food. We walked to every store and asked if they would give us
credit. No one would. We didn't know what we were going to do -
maybe to the Red Cross but they couldn’t help us out. We finally
found one store there and he told us he would give us $10 worth of
groceries until payday and that was about the middle of the month.
- He was so good to us to give us credit that we kept on gettmg credit
‘there and every payday about half of it would go to pay our grocery
bill in that store. Then we would start out getting credit allover '
again.

One day when we were still living in Seaside we decided we would
go see if we could find a better place to rent. Somebody told us
about this old man, Lavette was his name, and his wife and they had
a little two-room shack out on the beach - on the sand dunes. He said
he wouldn't rent it but he would sell it to us. You can just pay it off at
$25 a month in rent until you pay about 1/3 of it and I'll let that go as
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a down payment on the house then you can start the other rent
payments as payment on the house. We thought that was a pretty
good deal so we decided to buy the place. We went down there to fix
it up - and it was just blocked up on rocks and posts. It didn't have
anything under it really,' excépt the floor 'and'it was on the side. of the
hill. It was so steep on the hill - one of the kids had a ball and said
Iook, you can put this ball in the bedroom and it will roll clear out the
front door! Well, | got busy and jacked that thing up until it was level
‘and then you could stand on one side of the house and line up the
cracks - it had what they called board-and-bats but it didn't have any
bats - only had boards running up vertical on it. But if you could line

- up those cracks you could see all the way through! That's how bad it
was! So | got some used lumber from Ft. Ord (they had a big lumber
pile th_at they were giving away for wood). | borrowe'dvone of the
trucks from the Captain that | worked under and hauled some lumber
 home and started working on that house and building it up. | put
sheet rock all on the inside of it - it just had the two rooms. They
were only about 10x10. First we built a big: bedroom on the back
side. It didn't have a bathroom - it had one outside we had to go to.
So 1 decided | would build a bathroom while | was building the
bedroom. | got a used bathtub and sink and even used pipe. Put it all
together - it was a hell of a looking mess when | got through with it -
but it worked. Then the sewer came up the street - they put in a new
sewer line - they had never had one before and 1 was the first guy on
that two-block area to put a bathroom in a house. It was quite a long
time after that that anyone else did! But we had this shack that had
a bathroom in it anyway! Then we decided to build a front room on it.
So we got some material together from Ft. Ord and we roughed it in -
out of rough lumber and put a living room on the front - | think it was
16x24; it was a pretty good size! Then we had to put shingles on the
roof but we had to have new material for that! So Burly Layette, that
was the guy that sold us the place, said he would go down to the
lumber yard and co-sign for me to get some lumber on credit and |
could pay them so much a month. So we got some flooring and sheet
rock, and shmgles for the roof and roofed it all. We were making a

. pretty good mansion out of it by then! But we didn't have any tools to
work with!
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One afternoon we had a big thunderstorm and the lightening hit the
house across the street and blew the whole corner of it out. The
lightening was so thick there - one night we sat out on the porch and
put the newspaper up to see if we could actually read it and we
could! With the ‘continuous Iighte_nihg flashing!

This house we had at Bisbee was built right in the canyon; the’y‘
chiseled out the rock in the back of it (up about five feet) and put the
house right against it. So it was real steep out.i'n front and there was
a‘Big‘gorg'e' where the water ran down and it had a bridge across it
out in front of our house. We had a set of steps off that porch - about
10 or 12 steps - and the kids had a ball there one day - a rubber ball
about 6 inches around and they would roll it down those steps and
would let it bounce from one to the next one and as it got going
faster it would skip a step. Before it got to the bottom it was jumping
maybe two or three steps. Jeannie wanted it to hit every step before
it got to the bottom. She tried and tried all day long and part of the
next day and finally she made it do it! You know, I still owe her a |
quarter! I never did pay her that quarter' She reminded me of it every
once in a while too! '
Those were just little things that would happen along my life. I-
remember one time we had this little stroller for Woodrow and when
we took him to town he would have to ride in that because he was
too heavy to carry all the time. I would run with him a time or two
and then he wasn't satisfied after that unless | would run he would
holler his head off till I did. |
‘While | was there in Bisbhee I got shipped out again - to Korea! | didn't
like that - 1 didn't want to go over theré__! According to my records, if
you had been back from overseas for six months they could send you
‘over again. | had been home over six months so they sent me over
‘again. | had it pretty good because | was in the Engineer outfit and
we were behind the lines. We were building housing for the Air Force
- Quonset huts and pre-cut buildings; we had to pour the concrete for
them. It wasn't too bad in Korea - except when the North Korean
planes would come down and bomb us once in a while - we would
have to hit the dirt! Of course, we had foxholes behind the tents just
in case of an emergency. We were always so cold over there!
That was the miserable part - sometimes it would get down to 30
below zero and we would still have to work in it. We could hardly
keep warm - all bundled up - they would make us work anyway. It
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WOuld get so cold sometimes the guys didn't even want to go down

~ to the latrine - down the company 'street so they would just step out
~ back to go to the bathroom. It was so darn cold that you would have
~ to back up to get off the icicle! That wasn’t really the truth'"

"One day, lt was on Christmas, and we were pouring ‘concrete and

‘this one old Korean guy came along with a little baby - he didn't have

much on and it was just freezing - it was nearly purple! Of course, |
couldn't understand what he was talking about - | know he thought

his baby was going to freeze to death. | told the Sergeant 1 was going

to my tent and | would be right back. I went down to try and find
somethmg to wrap that baby in - I had an old shirt that was obsolete
- we didn't wear that kind anymore - but it was a nice heavy shirt - so
I took it over to the Korean and he wrapped the baby up in it and
bowed to me three or four times - 1 thought that was kind of the
Christmas spirit - 1 could help out that little kid.
That day they were going to give us two hours off for dinner -
‘because we had a big turkey dinner that day being it was Christmas.
Normally they would only give you an hour for lunch - so we figured |
that was pretty decent - to give us two hours! When we were
emptying our mess gear out in the garbage cans there were a bunch
of little kids back there - it was cold and the wind was blowing - the
kids were about 3 to 10 years old - they were dipping into those
garbage cans. They would take a gallon can and punch holes in it
and put a handle on it and dip it into the garbage cans. They would
do that all the time - not just at Christmas. But that was the way it
was over there in Korea - those darn kids were starving to death.

. I'was the Sergeant in charge of pouring the concrete - we had a

- shave tail lieutenant - just out of college - one of those 90-day
wonders. He never had any experience at anything. He would wrap
up in the company tent to keep warn while we were out there
'worki‘ng. They had big dump trucks dumping that concrete and we
‘made big 24x48 slabs to put those Quonset huts on. It was freezing
so hard they couldn't get the concrete out. When they would raise

- the dump truck the cement wouldn't come out. We would have to
pick it out! I told the drivers that they would have to figure out a way
to get it down there before it all froze. The Lieutenant came back
down and wanted to know where the cement trucks were - | told him
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the situation and he said who the hell you think you are - you're not

- running this outfit - | am!

- And I'll be the one to tell them to stop. He chewed me out good. The
next morning the First. Sergeant called me and said he wanted to see
me over at Battalion 'Headquarter‘s. I went over there and talked to
the Colonel over there and he said it had been the wrong thing for me
to do because 1 wasn't really in charge. I told him I was just doing
what | thought was rlght - he said actually you were! But the
Lieutenant was pretty worked up about it and wanted something
done about it. The Colonel said that what he was going to have to do
was take my rank away from me demote me to a Corporal - | was a
Staff Sergeant before that. The Colonel said that in 30 days he would
give it back to me. Well, durmg those 30 days there was an order
that came out that said you had to be in a rank for one year before
you could advance another rank. And so, that applied to me too -so |
had to wait a full year. Well, | was in Korea for sixteen months so |
got the rank back that | went over there with. So | came home as a
Staff Sergeant - | should have been a Master Sergeant because the
deal was that when we went over there we would gain a rank when
we returned. So | lost out! All in a day's work!

We got transferred from Ohsan down to Koonsan to another airstrip.
When we went down there they put us on little trains with railroad
tracks about half the size of our railroad tracks. They put us in these
cattle cars and they would pack us in there so tight that you couldn’t
fall over if you v_vanted to - it was just like sardines in there. That was
“awful miserable but when we got down to Koonsan and were waiting
for the trucks to come in to take us on over to the camp some
bombers came over and bombed the railroad tracks and also the
locomotive that pulled the train. So that's why we had to take trucks
over to the camp. While we were waltmg for the trucks to get in
there we decided we would go over to Koonsan and fool around a
little bit. We walked across the river there - across a little foot bridge
about six feet wide - on our way over there we saw a little Korean
boy laying there - he looked like he had been vomiting or something -
we just thought well, he's sick, so we went on by and when we came
back we discovered that kid was dead - he died while we were gone.
‘These Koreans would just look at him and walk on by - no one would
give him a hand or anything. We told the medics there and they got
the ambulance to come down and pick him up. | don't know where



they took him but he was already dead. But that's just how much
those damn Koreans think of one and another - then we had to go
over there and risk Our lives for those people!

While 1 was in Korea they would let a few people go on R&R - that‘
Rest and Relaxatlon for ten days. They would either send you to _
Japan - Tokyo - or you could go-to Hong Kong. My buddy and I picked |

."'_l'okyo decided to go there. We got to Tokyo and got us a hotel room .

to stay in. That was the darndest town | had ever seen in my life! The
markets were just big open markets - they sold a little bit of
everything - just like a flea market two or three blocks long. That's
where the people would go to buy all their stuff. Of éoursé, they
always had a lot of stuff to sell to the soldiers for souvenirs too. The
thing that amazed me was the streets in Tokyo - they were so wide!
Everybody and everything went on the same street - and they had no
choice on which direction they were going. They had rickshaws and
bicycles and these ox-carts - with water buffaloes pulling them - and |
they had taxi cabs; and people walking. We would ride a taxi cab
because we felt safe because they were big enough than all the rest.
These damn taxi cab drivers had a horn button on top of their gear
shift - of course, they were on-the-floor gear shifts - and that was so
they could honk the horn every time they started out so they could
get everyone out of their way! it was a hell of a racket! All you could
hear were car horns!

They had an NCO Club there and the G.l."s were allowed on their
leave to buy a fifth of whiskey each. So Craig, my buddy and | each
got one and started celebrating. We celebrated the rest of that day -
that was the first day we got in there - until about midnight. We
finally went to bed and when we got up we were so sick we couldn't
see straight. We didn't do anymore drinking then! We décided to look
the town over - so we went sight-seeing and brought a few souvenirs.
We were downtown and looking around and we came to this place
that was a public bath - we were going to go in there because we
knew everyone went into the same bathtub with no clothes on. We
were going to see those girls naked! We got down there and it said
no G.l.'s allowed! - So that failed. But when we got back up to our
hotel room naturally we wanted to take a bath. They had these big
Square bathtubs that were about 6-feet square and they would fill
them almost full with warm water! That was fun to soak in there - but
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they would always have the girls go in there and fill the water for
you. After it got full she would step out and you would go in and get
in the tub and she would come back in there with a big soft brush
and some soap and scrub your back for you - - then she would take off
agam.

The n_ext ,morning Craig wanted s_ome ham and eggs and fried

potatoes. They didn't'know what fried potatoes were, had never :
“heard of them! They did have some eggs but no ham - it was kind of
" scarce over there - so he tried to explain to the cook that he wanted
some potatoes - and finally the cook brought some over and Cralg
peeled them and told him how to put them in the frying pan to fry
them. Before we left there everybody was eatmg potatoes! Started a
new fad - fried potatoes! | don't suppose they were the first in Japan
~ but at that one hotel they were! '

‘ We got through wuth our R&R and returned to Korea. We were there
about a month when we got word we were having a cease—f’ ire. They
got a lot of the guys that had been over there sixteen months and got
them ready to ship them back home. |1 was one of those eligible to go
back home. We had to fly from Korea back to Japan. We stayed in
Japan at an Army base there while we were waiting for a boat (about
4 or 5 days).

Meanwhile we had to get all our records straight and all our finances
straight and change our Korean money back into American currency.
We headed back to the States and pulled into San Francisco and
they sent us on over to Parks Air Force Base that was the repot-
depot at that time - that’s where everybody transferring and getting
out of the army and gettmg in the army - that called it the depot-
depot!

Then they sent me back to Ft. Ord for dlscharge. When we got down
to Ft. Ord, | think 1 called Pauline before | got there - | can't
remember if 1 did or not - but when we got there | was suppose to get
my discharge there but had to wait three days to get all our paper
work straightened out again. Then we had to go be de-briefed by the
Colonel and all that stuff. So they sent us out to a work detail - out to
East Garrison - all we were doing was cutting weeds around the
tents out there with a hoe - just to keep us busy. | got lazy and
wouldn’t work - | would just stand around and the Sergeant got on

my case and said either work or else! | said or else, what? - I'm
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getting discharged anyway - so he gave up and didn't make me work.
1 went back over to the main fort and went into talk to the Colonel
‘about the discharge and they tried to talk us into re-enlisting. He
asked me if | wanted to re-enlist or take my dlscharge. 1 told him |
wanted my discharge! He said why, don't you like the Army? | said
yes I liked the Army but I didn't want to be part of it!. He laughed and
laughed. So he signed my dlscharge_ papers and | was free!

‘Again, | had a problem - | didn't have a job - and had a family to keep.
It's something to think about! Anyway, I'went out to Ft. Ord and put
in an application to go to work out there because they needed some
carpenters. | thought | could qualify for that. | was only 13 days from
- 'the time 1 got my discharge until 1 was back working for the
government again! 1 went to work at Ft. Ord domg maintenance on
the buildings out there.

We finally got tired of this place in Seaside - it was a small lot so we
couldn’t have our house any bigger. So we went out to Marina - a
little ways north of Ft. Ord - about 4 or 5 miles - and we were looking
around out there and found this little house - a real small place - only
a three room house - a bedroom, bathroom and kitchen (very small
kitchen) and a living room. So we looked up the Real Estate man to
see how much they wanted for it. | forget what he quoted us - but we
decided we would like to have it but we told him we would have to .
sell our place first. He said he would sell our house and puit us in this
- new one. So he sold our house for $2200 - and we only paid $750 for
it to start with. So | went to work fixing it up like | always did - | did a
lot to it - and by the time I finished it was a pretty nice place! First, |
borrowed some money, $700, and built two big bedrooms on the
back and converted the garage into a bedroom and put another little
bathroom in the garage and rearranged the whole roof on the house -
| brought it clear out over the garage and built a carport in the front of
- the garage. By this time we were getting up in the world! We were
pretty comfortable there. | took some old scrap 4x4 sand | had a
band saw and designed a fence out in the front of the yard which
was a really attractive fence. It was all cut out of 4x4 s and put
together - it looked like a bunch of wagon wheels run together! | also
loved to raise flowers - all kinds of flowers. Went over to the bulb
ranch and got a whole bunch of bulbs after they plowed up the bulbs
you could go over there and gather those they had missed. Anyway |
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had all kinds of flowers - roses and everything! | built a concrete

thing out in the front yard that looked like a big layer cake and | had

_ different terraces on that covered with different begonias which was
really attractive. One day the Garden Club came by and were
admlrmg it and they asked me if | wanted to join their Garden Club - |
said no, | don't have time for any club l just raise flowers for the fun
of it. They h_ad this Ilttle newspaper ther_e and when it came out

about a month later they had voted and thought our lot was the most -
- ‘attractive - the flower garden - so | got my name in the paper!

There were a few interesting things that happened while we were in
~'Marina. One of them was that Jeannie - just after Robin was born

- (Melvin was in the Navy and had gone out on the ship) - rented a
place just down the street from us. | liked to go down there and see
Robin every night when | came home from work. | hardly ever got out
of the house without taking her home with me. She loved to go home
with me! And we loved to have her. Anyway, Jeannie was a married
woman and one day she took a BB gun that Woodrow had, and she
put some cans up on the fence across the street and she was
shooting at them - while she was shooting at them she walked
across the street to see how she was doing and she had the gun in
her hands and as she came back across the street a cop came by.
He slowed down and finally stopped. Jeannie ran in and hid behind
the stove in the kitchen. That guy came and knocked on the door and
1 opened the door and he said | just wanted to see what kind of gun
that little girl had! And she was a grown woman - but Jeannie was
really scared! | explained to him that it was just a BB gun and he
said not to shoot it across the street - shoot on only the same side of
the street' :

1 saw in the papér, while we were there in Marina, that some people
had a house to be torn down and they would give the lumber to
anyway who would tear it down and clean up the yard - it was over in
Pacific Grove. So | volunteered to do it to get all that wood. I got a
trailer and hauled the wood back home and built me a shop back at
the house. It was pretty good size - about 24x30 and that's where |
did a lot of work - | built a desk for some people and some dressers -
some of the kids have some of the stuff | built still! We had a pretty
good life there in Marina.



Pauline had a lot of sickness in her life. While we were in Marina she
had to have a full-body cast put on her back - she had had a spinal
fusion previously and it never got well. They were trying to cure it by
putting her in a cast. But it didn't work. It seemed Ilke she was in

' and out of the hospltal all through her life.

That's where we were Ilvmg when Woodrow was going to go up to |
‘the store and his mother told him to take Robin with him - she
‘wanted to go - Woodrow didn’t want her to go but he took her

anyways! When he was going up to the store he saw some of his

school buddies. The first thing Robin would say is this is my Uncle -
and that would make him madder than hell - he didn’t like that at all.

That's where we lived when Woodrow got his first dlploma he got a

dlploma from Kindergarten - he was quite a guy! He liked to watch

teIevnsnon that Rin Tin Tin show - he got some things out of the
bubble gum and had Karen fill them out for him and he sent them in -
he got his membership and a flag - a Rin Tin Tin flag for the Cavalry -
and certificates of all kinds! You know, that show would be on a | '
certain time in the afternoon and he would be out playing and he
- would come in that house and turn that television on and that show
would just be coming on! | don't know how he ever found out when
that show came on - he didn't have a watch - but he always got in
there just in the nick of time! It was pretty proud of that Kinder-
garden diploma that's the first time | ever heard of Kindergarten
having diplomas! Poor little guy, | was out to Ft. Ord one time looking
in the salvage place out there and they had a bunch of combat boots
they were selling real cheap - some of them were used but very little
used. | found a pair that would fit him - about a size 3 - anyways

pretty small - they were blg combat boots but just the size to fit a
little kid! So | brought them home for him - he didn't complain about
them but he didn't say too much about them either. One day we went
up to the school for parent-teacher meeting and the teacher was
talking about Woodrow and she said poor kid - 1 have to make him
clean the marks off around his desk (it was an asbestos tile). Those
darn shoes would mark it up with those soles. He had to scrub that
up, sometimes with steel wool, and he had to clean it up every day
before he went home. It just about broke my heart - I really felt bad
about that - but he wouldn't have to wear those darn army shoes
anymore after | found that out! |
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We lived there in that house too when Kay was born - Karen came
back from Mississippi and had Kay - and we really enjoyed her too.
Come to think about it we lived there when Woodrow got his ear
burnt. Of course, we were on vacation in Cedar when he got burnt
and burmed his eardrum out. Later on he had to have a new eardrum
built. 1 do remember when he got hurt - he was laying on the floor
‘and this little girl came in with a pot of hot coffee - one of those
gl‘ass pots. Woodrow and this other little guy were laying thereon =~
the floor watching television and as she went to walk by one of them
made a quick move and she jumped back and when she did she
poured that hot boiling coffee right down on his shoulder and into his
ear. It burnt him so bad across his shoulder and down the front of
him - we took him down to the emergency room - the doctor had him
sitting there on the table with his clothes off and he was taking a
pair of tweezers and taking the hide off! Woodrow was just a
whimpering - saying Daddy, help me, it hurts, Daddy, please help me.
There | was helpless - couldn’t do a damn thing - that almost killed
me! ‘

We used to enjoy it there at Marina - had a real good time.

Had a lot of vacation time - | would always get 30 days a year - then
plus we had all holidays off! We had a tent and a carrier to put on top
of the car - we had a "56 Oldsmobile and we would go up to Toulouse
Meadows - up in Yosemite. We would pitch that tent and camp out -
we always had a good time up there. We did a lot of fun things when
we were all together! |

They started building houses all-around us there in Marina. We had
two of our friends that lived in Seaside near us and they moved out
to Marina. We all three lived within a block of each other. There was
Howard Anderson and Myrtle and then the Heeds. Seemed like they
followed us from one place to another.

When we lived there in Marina the kids got the mumps. Woodrow was

the sickest. We had this little dog called Trixie, a fox terrier.

Woodrow just loved that dog - he would lay on the floor and play with

that'dog all the time. They were pretty good friends. After Woodrow

got over the mumps that darn dog got sick - we didn't know what
was the matter with it. We took him down to the vet and the vet
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looked down her throat and said well, hell, this darn dog has the
mumps! We didn’t even know dogs got the mumps. The vet said they
didn't usually but this one sure did. He gave her some medicine to :
ease the pain an‘d’finally the mumps’ went away. :

‘When we first moved out to Marma there was a dalry just up the
street from us - on top of a little hill. That road we lived on was more-
or-less just a county road just a few scattered houses along there. -

" About this time we realized we were getting closed in - having the
city all around us and we didn’t consider ourselves city folks - so we
decided to look for another place to live. I finally talked to this fellow
I worked with at Ft. Ord - he had some land out on Elk Horn Road -
just seven miles south of Watsonwlle and about 5 miles. north of
Castrovulle. I talked him into selling me a couple of acres of ground -
there. He decided to sell to me but in order for me to get the money |
had to sell my place there in Marina. So we put_ii: up for sale and it
finallysold - but we only had 30 days to move out of there and |
didn’t have a new house built yet! | was in a hell of a fix! Didn't even
have mOney to buy materials to start with. We got some credit and
got the foundation in and poured the slab for the garage and put a
garage up. Then we moved into that garage. We did get the money
for that house and then we had 30 days to get out of it after we got
the money. The first thing | had to do was put in a septic tank - we
couldn’t even have an outside toilet there! So | got a permit to build
a septic tank and | asked the guy what kind of permit | had to have
to build a house out there. He said nothing - all you have to have is a
saw and hammer and the lumber to do it with - but we did have to_
have a permit for a septic tank! Well, we found out that in order to
get a permit for a septic tank | had to get a permit for the highway,
the approach to the place - and two or three more permuts 1 had to
have before they would give me the permut for the septic tank!
Finally got them all cleared up and built the septic tank. When we
built the garage we moved in it - | had the foundation of the house up
so knew where one of the bathrooms was going to be so | put the

~walls up for it and put the toilet and a little shower in. But the house
wasn't even built yet and if it rained you would be sitting there in the
rain! Anyway, Karen was a big girl and she didn’t want to go out to
that bathroom without a roof on it. She made me put a roof on it!
Karen was pregnant with Marla then - and she tried to help me on
that house but couldn’t do too much because she was so big. Her



husband was there for a while - he had a job - he was an electrician
but he didn‘tjlike it. He finally got to going with some gal out there, |
guess, behind Karen's back. One day she woke up (he had just
gotten paid) and she found he had pinned a $5 bill to his pillow when
he left. Never even left a note or anythmg. He went back to
MISSISSIppI' He left Karen there, pregnant, with us. We were trymg to
get by in the garage and that darn Kay would cry all night long. Hope
~ she doesn't hear me say this, but | know she will. That was in 1964

that we moved out there. It took me quite a while to build the house -
about a year -1 got a little help here and there - a couple of my
Vbuddles from Ft. Ord came and helped me put the siding on and the
roof on.



